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iv Series Editor’s Preface

Series Editor’s Preface
(Günther Schlee)

About the series
This series of Field Notes and Research Projects does not aim to compete 
with high-impact, peer-reviewed books and journal articles, which are the 
main ambition of scholars seeking to publish their research. Rather, contribu-
tions to this series complement such publications. They serve a number of 
different purposes. 

In recent decades, anthropological publications have often been purely dis-
cursive – that is, they have consisted only of words. Often, pictures, tables, and 
maps have not found their way into them. In this series, we want to devote 
more space to visual aspects of our data. 

Data are often referred to in publications without being presented systemati-
cally. Here, we want to make the paths we take in proceeding from data to con-
clusions more transparent by devoting sufficient space to the documentation 
of data.

In addition to facilitating critical evaluation of our work by members of the 
scholarly community, stimulating comparative research within the institute and 
beyond, and providing citable references for books and articles in which only a  
limited amount of data can be presented, these volumes serve an important func-
tion in retaining connections to field sites and in maintaining the involvement 
of the people living there in the research process. Those who have helped us 
to collect data and provided us with information can be given these books and 
booklets as small tokens of our gratitude and as tangible evidence of their 
cooperation with us. When the results of our research are sown in the field, new 
discussions and fresh perspectives might sprout.

Especially in their electronic form, these volumes can also be used in the  
production of power points for teaching; and, as they are open-access and free 
of charge, they can serve an important public outreach function by arousing 
interest in our research among members of a wider audience.
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Introduction
Al-Amin Abu-Manga

Previous studies by the researcher and some other scholars1 revealed that 
the Sennar area in the south-eastern part of the present-day Republic of 
the Sudan (ca. 300– 400 km south of Khartoum) was for many decades 
during the nineteenth and twentieth centuries a focal destination of Fulani 
immigrant groups from different parts of the Sudan and directly from West 
Africa. In the Sudan, as in other African countries, the members of these 
groups are affiliated to clans and subclans named after their respective 
(presumed) founders or their original home towns/regions. Although the 
Fulani groups living in the Sennar area belong to various clans and subclans, 
they can roughly be classified into two major divisions in terms of the history 
of their immigration and the degree of their integration in the local (Arab) 
communities: a) the Old Fulani, and b) the Post-Mahdism Fulani immigrants.

The Old Fulani division of the Sennar area includes individual families 
and larger groups of Fulani who settled in this area before the establishment 
of the Mahdist state (1882–1898). It also comprises Fulani who arrived in 
the area immediately after the fall of this state (following the Karari battle2 
of September 2, 1898), mainly from Darfur and Kordofan. Common to 
the members of the Old Fulani division is that they have given up most of 
the cultural elements that were once constitutive of their ethnic identity as 
Fulani and do not longer speak their ancestral language (Fulfulde). They 
first concentrated in the past in the following two old Fulani villages: Wad 
Haashim on the western bank of the Blue Nile, ca. 12 km south of Sennar 
(town), and Shaikh Ṭalḥa diagonally on the opposite side of the river. Today, 
the largest settlement of the Old Fulani in the Sennar area is that of as-Suuki 
town (ca. 30 km south-east of Shaikh Ṭalḥa), the head seat of as-Suuki 
Locality administration (see map 1 on p. vi). 

The division of Post-Mahdism Fulani immigrants, on the other hand, 
includes mainly members of Attahiru/Mai-Wurno’s hijra (religious 
migration) who arrived in the Sennar area during the first decade of the 
twentieth century coming directly from present-day northern Nigeria and 
many other parts of West Africa. These Fulani now concentrate in and around 
the town of Maiurno on the western bank of the Blue Nile, ca. 15 km south 
of Sennar, exactly opposite to the old Fulani village of Shaikh Ṭalḥa.3 Most 

1  �See, e.g., Nasr (1980), Duffield (1981) and Abu-Manga (1999). 
2  �The Karari battle is sometimes referred to as the ‘battle of Omdurman’ in the 

literature. The latter term is rather incorrect as the battle in question did not 
actually take place in Omdurman but outside the town in the so-called Karari plain. 

3  �Smaller settlements of Post-Mahdism Fulani immigrants, which are the results of 
early out-migrations from Maiurno, can notably be found further south along the 
Blue Nile and further east along the Dinder, Rahad and Upper Atbara rivers. ► 



(Sketch) Map 1: Research area in Sennar State 
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Post-Mahdism Fulani immigrants still retain the use of the Fulfulde language 
and are less acculturated than the members of the Old Fulani division. 

The two above-mentioned divisions have received unequal attention in 
research. To this day, the Old Fulani remain understudied compared to the 
Post-Mahdism Fulani immigrants, among whom I have notably carried out 
research in collaboration with Professor Günther Schlee in the framework of 
the project entitled ‘Ethnicity in new contexts: emergent boundaries and pluri-
ethnic networks in the East of the Republic of the Sudan’.4 However, in the 
light of the paucity of in-depth studies of the Old Fulani, we both agreed that 
it was time to document some of the research we conducted on this division. 

The data presented in this volume offer new insights into the history of 
immigration of Old Fulani to the Sennar area, their interactions with members 
of other ethnic groups, their identity management, their role in the spread 
of Sufism in central Sudan and their integration into the market economy. 
These data were collected within the framework of the project ‘Pastoralism 
in interaction with other forms of land use in the Blue Nile area of Sudan’,5 
financially supported by the Max Planck Institute for Social Anthropology, 
and headed by Günther Schlee, the director of the Department ‘Integration 
and Conflict’. They are extracts from interviews conducted between 2011 
and 2013 during field trips to the Sennar area (June 2011, January 2013 
and March 2013) and to Omdurman (Khartoum State; February 2012, July 
2012 and March 2013). Research locations in the Sennar area included 
as-Suuki town, Tireera Kuuʿ an-Naḥal (ca. 7 km west of as-Suuki), Ḥillat 
Ismaaʿiil (ca. 8 km south of Sennar) and al-Muraffaʿ (ca. 10 km south of 
Maiurno). With the exception of ʿUmar Muḥammad Qudus ʿAbdullaahi, all 
the people interviewed in these localities clearly belong to the Old Fulani 
division. Although his father originated from Sokoto (northern Nigeria) and 
arrived in as-Suuki at the beginning of the 1930s, shortly before ʿUmar’s 
birth, ʿUmar cannot be categorised as a member of the division of the Post-
Mahdism Fulani immigrants of the Sennar area. First, his father spent the 
first part of his life in present-day South Sudan and the Nuba Mountains 
before proceeding to the Sennar area. Second, ʿUmar was born in as-Suuki 
from a non-Fulani mother and grew up in an Old Fulani social milieu, thus, 
losing basic aspects of Fulani ethnic identity, including the Fulfulde language 
(which he even never spoke). Taking the latter fact into account, he seems to 
rather belong, in practice, to the division of the Old Fulani than to that of the 
Post-Mahdism Fulani immigrants.

 ◄ �For more information on these settlements and the socio-political factors that led 
to their establishment, see Abu-Manga (2007).

4  �A substantial set of data collected between 1996 to 1998 within the framework of 
this research project has been published online (Schlee 2013; see also Schlee 2000 
and Schlee and Abu-Manga 2017).

5  �See also Feyissa and Schlee (2009), Schlee (2012) and Osman and Schlee (2014).
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The persons interviewed in Omdurman included:
▫▫ �Muḥammad Al-Amiin Ḥasan Ibrahiim (commissioner of as-Suuki 
Locality): He is from Maiurno, i.e., a member of the division of Post-
Mahdism Fulani immigrants. Although I was his guest during my entire 
stay in as-Suuki and he coordinated all my meetings with my informants, 
it was only later that I realised the importance of interviewing him, as 
an outsider and commissioner of the locality, on the interactions of Old 
Fulani with the members of other ethnic communities in his locality. So, 
I interviewed him during one of his regular visits to his second (conjugal) 
family in Omdurman.
▫▫ �Kaamil ʿAbdulraḥmaan ash-Shaikh Muḥammad Abu-Kuuma and Balla aṭ-
Ṭaahir Muḥammad Saalim: These two men are from Wad Haashim (Arab) 
village, but established themselves in Omdurman in a quarter including a 
number of Wad Haashim people. Both of them are tightly connected with 
their home village through regular visits. Balla belongs to the Old Fulani 
division of Wad Haashim, whereas Kaamil is a Dongolese by origin. His 
relevance to our research stems from the fact that his grandfather was the 
heir of Shaikh Wad-Haashim’s sijjaada (praying mat),6 as the latter did not 
get children and the former was his closest and most faithful follower.7 
Accordingly, and following the directive of Shaikh Wad-Haashim himself, 
the sijjaada succession shifted to Abu-Kuuma’s family.8 Kaamil is the 
present sheikh9 of the sijjaada, i.e., the spiritual head of the Wad Haashim 
community.
▫▫ �Omda Yaʿguub Adam Yaʿguub: He is the Omda of the Omodiyya10 in the 
Tulus area (Southern Darfur) under which the Sindiga Fulani clan used 
to be administered.11 He also has a house in Omdurman, where he was 
interviewed together with a group of Darfur Sindiga. Some of the members 
of this group were able to trace kinship relationships with Sindiga I 

6  �The term sijjaada (praying mat) is notably used in the Sudan to symbolise a 
focal centre of a Sufi order headed by a sheikh, usually succeeded by one of 
his offsprings believed by his adherents to bear the blessing(s) – baraka – of 
the deceased sheikh/saint. The most important component of the centre is the 
tuggaaba, which is the fire (place), lit in the night for children and followers to 
recite and memorise the Qur’an. 

7  �The form ‘Wad Haashim’ is used throughout this volume in reference to the village 
and ‘Wad-Haashim’ to its (presumed) founder.

8  �This is a unique case in the history of Sufism in the Sudan, wherein the sijjaada 
(and eventually the baraka) shifted to a family that was not genealogically related 
to the family of the founding sheikh.

9  �The form ‘Shaikh’ is used for the title and ‘sheikh’ for the office.
10  �The Omodiyya (ʿUmuudiyya) corresponds to the second highest administrative 

unit within the Native Administration system introduced by the British. The title 
held by the head of an Omodiyya is ‘Omda’.

11  �Meanwhile the Sindiga of the Tulus area have their own independent Omodiyya 
under Omda Ibrahiim Yuunis.
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interviewed in the Sennar area. In the latter area, the Sindiga have recently 
split into two (disputing) factions on the matter of their ethnic identity: a 
faction that does not define itself as Fulani anymore and now claims an 
Arab identity,12 and another that sticks firmly to its Fulani identity, although 
its members, like those of the former faction, no longer speak Fulfulde. 
Paradoxically, the two factions are headed by two full brothers (Aḥmad 
Abu-Bakr Ḥasan Jumʿa and Muḥammad Abu-Bakr Ḥasan Jumʿa), each 
heading a faction.

FuRTHER General Remarks
▫▫ �The early existence of the villages of Wad Haashim and Shaikh Ṭalḥa as 
focal centres for Sufi activities and Qur’an learning has played a role in the 
Fulani immigrations to the Sennar area.13

▫▫ �The immediate regions of departure of the Old Fulani to the Sennar area 
were Darfur, Kordofan and the Gezira. When asked about farther regions 
of departure of their forefathers, informants mention more frequently North 
Africa than West Africa.
▫▫ �Quite a large number of Fulani participated in the Mahdiyya movement 
(1882–1898) and headed to the Sennar area immediately after the loss of 
the Karari battle (1898), which brought an end to the Mahdist state.
▫▫ �Most of the Mahdist Fulani made their way to the Sennar area for one or 
several of the following reasons:
�a) �Khaliifa ʿAbdullaahi, the Mahdi’s successor, advised them to move to 

that area.
�b) �Shaikh Muḥammad Toom (son of Shaikh Ṭalḥa), the then sheikh of 

Shaikh Ṭalḥa village, who is himself believed to have been of Fulani 
origin, invited them to join him and his sheikhdom.

�c) �The Sennar area was characterised by good farming and grazing 
opportunities.

�d) �Shaikh Ṭalḥa village was a peaceful place; the British could not enter 
Shaikh Ṭalḥa and no fighting took place in this village.

▫▫ �The Old Fulani of the Sennar area generally tend to keep a low profile about 
their ethnic identity and some of them have already decided to adopt a new 
(Arab) ethnic identity.

12  �In Southern Darfur, the Sindiga are part of the Isooji clan, which is the largest 
clan in the Iba (Fulfulde-speaking) division of the Fulani of Southern Darfur (in 
opposition to the Ika [Arabic-speaking] division). All the Sindiga interviewed 
in the house of Omda Yaʿguub Adam Yaʿguub in Omdurman (April 2013) were 
Fulfulde speakers.

13  �As centres for Sufi activities the two villages attracted also a large number of 
Muslims from other ethnic groups, both Arabs and non-Arabs. Many of these 
Muslims thus settled in the proximity of these two villages.



x Introduction

This book is arranged in the Arabic fashion and starts from what in the West 
would be ‘the back’ with an Arabic version of this Introduction.

Acknowledgements
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farming schemes  51 ׀ 67 ׀ 55 ׀ 53 ׀  
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Ḥijaaz  33 34 ׀
hijra  v 46 ׀
Ḥillat Baƙi  46
Ḥillat Ismaaʿiil  vii 1 ׀
Ḥillat Wad Naaṣir  40
Ḥuseinaab  74 79 ׀ 76 ׀
Ḥuseiniyya  74 91 ׀ 81 ׀

I
Iba Fulani/Fallaata Iba  ix
Ika Fulani/Fallaata Ika  ix
Isooji (Fallaata/Fulani)  ix

J
Jabal Um ʿAli  34
Jaʿliyyiin  16 72 ׀ 29 ׀
Jawaamʿa  16 87 ׀
Jerusalem  47
Juba  33

K
Kaamil ʿAbdulraḥmaan ash-Shaikh 

Muḥammad Abu-Kuuma/
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Karari  v ׀ ix 66 ׀ 65 ׀ 40 ׀ 35 ׀

Kassaab  37
Kawaahla  79 87 ׀ 83 ׀
Khaliifa ʿAbdullaahi  ix ׀ 39 ׀ 38 ׀ 37 ׀  
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Khoor al-Booj  35
Kordofan  v ׀ ix ׀ 48 ׀ 45 ׀ 33 ׀ 26 ׀ 15 ׀  

66
Kunuuz (Nile Nubians)  52

L
Libya  82
	L ibyan Desert  3
livestock  35 89 ׀ 70 ׀ 69 ׀
	 (see also cattle)

M
Maghreb  6 84 ׀
Mahdi  ix ׀ 39 ׀ 38 ׀ 37 ׀ 36 ׀ 26 ׀ 14 ׀  

86 ׀ 85 ׀ 84 ׀ 81 ׀ 66 ׀ 65
Mahdiyya  ix ׀ 38 ׀ 37 ׀ 36 ׀ 35 ׀ 26 ׀ 7 ׀  

86 ׀ 84 ׀ 65 ׀ 40 ׀ 39
Maiurno  v ׀ vii ׀ viii ׀ 46 ׀ 36 ׀ 5 ׀ 3 ׀ 2 ׀   

90 ׀ 79 ׀ 73 ׀ 71 ׀ 49 ׀ 47
Makk aj-Jaḥmaan  2
Mali  34
Marrakesh  80
Masallamiyya (Arabs)  3
Mecca  34 84 ׀ 47 ׀
Medina  34 47 ׀ 46 ׀
Morocco  80
Muʾassasa  68 69 ׀
Muḥammad Abu-Bakr Ḥasan 

Jumʿa/Muḥammad  ix ׀ 79 ׀  
83–91

Muḥammad Al-Amiin Ḥasan 
Ibrahiim/Muḥammad  viii ׀  
71–76

Muḥammad ʿAli Pasha  2
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A
ʿAbbaasiyya Tagale  45 47 ׀
ʿAbbuuda  53
ʿAbdaljaliil Adam Ḥusein/

Mawlaana ʿAbdaljaliil  89 90 ׀
ʿAbdullaahi ibn al-ʿAbbaas  41
Ab-Ḥajar  90
Abu-ʿAjaaj  33 40 ׀ 
Abu-Ḥujaar  13
agriculture  7 68 ׀ 58 ׀ 55 ׀ 52 ׀ 14 ׀
Aḥmad Abu-Bakr Ḥasan Jumʿa/

Aḥmad  ix 84 ׀ 82–79 ׀
al-ʿAzaaza  12 
al-Busaaṭa  40
al-Buṭaana  54 56 ׀
al-Fao  34
al-Fashashooya  85
al-Fiteeḥ  3 15 ׀ 14 ׀ 13 ׀
al-Lakandi  71 90 ׀
al-Masallamiyya (village)  11
al-Muraffaʿ  vii ׀ 88 ׀ 87 ׀ 85 ׀ 83 ׀ 79 ׀  

89
al-Waaṣliyya  1 2 ׀
Andalusia  5 80 ׀ 6 ׀
Ansar  81
Arabs  ix 84 ׀ 83 ׀ 82 ׀ 80 ׀ 79 ׀ 73 ׀ 53 ׀
ʿArdeeba Ab-Garin (ʿIreediiba)  5
ar-Raayaat  13
ar-Riheeṭa  35
ar-Rookab  33
ashraaf  91
as-Suuki  v ׀ vii ׀ viii ׀ 35 ׀ 33 ׀ 27 ׀ 25 ׀  

  ׀ 49 ׀ 48 ׀ 47 ׀ 46 ׀ 45 ׀ 42 ׀ 41 ׀ 40
  ׀ 74 ׀ 73 ׀ 72 ׀ 71 ׀ 65 ׀ 58 ׀ 52 ׀ 50
90 ׀ 86 ׀ 76 ׀ 75

ʿAṭbara  34
Attahiru/aṭ-Ṭaahir  v
aṭ-Ṭuwai  80 82 ׀

B
Baggara  38
Bakht ar-Riḍa  51

Balla aṭ-Ṭaahir Muḥammad Saalim/
Balla  viii 17–15 ׀ 11 ׀

Bello ad-Daadaari  37 40 ׀ 39 ׀ 38 ׀
Borno  89
	 Borno Fulani/Fallaata Borno  

71
British  viii ׀ ix ׀ 72 ׀ 66 ׀ 52 ׀ 51 ׀ 41 ׀  

73
brotherhood (Sufism)  12 ׀ 80 ׀ 13 ׀  

84

C
Cairo  47
cattle  35 ׀ 54 ׀ 53 ׀ 50 ׀ 49 ׀ 48 ׀ 47 ׀  

89 ׀ 86 ׀ 85 ׀ 84 ׀ 66 ׀ 65
	 (see also livestock)
	 cattle owners  54 88 ׀ 69 ׀ 66 ׀
Communist Party  8 20 ׀ 18 ׀

D
Daar Maali  34
Danaagla  16 

(see also Dongolese)
Darfur  v ׀ viii ׀ ix ׀ 81 ׀ 80 ׀ 66 ׀ 65 ׀  

85 ׀ 84 ׀ 82
Democratic Unionist Party/

Unionists  7 8 ׀
Dinder  53 58 ׀ 57 ׀ 56 ׀ 55 ׀
Direebu  13
Dongola  6 14 ׀
Dongolese  viii 17 ׀ 11 ׀ 

(see also Danaagla)

E
Egyptians  8
El Obeid  26 48 ׀ 33 ׀
Europeans  5 52 ׀

F
Fallaata Mawaaliid  72 73 ׀
farm damage  53 88 ׀ 70 ׀ 54 ׀
farmers  35 88 ׀ 69 ׀ 66 ׀ 58 ׀ 57 ׀ 56 ׀
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ف
الفاو  34

الفتيح  2 ׀ 3 ׀ 13 ׀ 15
الفششوية  85

فلاتة مواليد  72 ׀ 73
فونج  05 ׀ 1 ׀ 2 ׀ 4 ׀ 6 ׀ 12 ׀ 30 ׀ 41 ׀ 

42
سلطنة الفونج  5 	

ق
القدس  46 ׀ 47

قريضة  65 ׀ 84 ׀ 86
قشيش  84 ׀ 86

القضارف  50 ׀ 51 ׀ 52 ׀ 56

ك
كاتسينا فلاني/فلاتة كاتسينا  05

كامل عبدالرحمن الشيخ محمد أبوكومة/
كامل  07 ׀ 11–15 ׀ 17–20

كردفان  05 ׀ 08 ׀ 45 ׀ 48
كرري  05 ׀ 08 ׀ 35 ׀ 65

كساب  36
كمرون  06

كنوز )نوبة النيل(  52
كواهلة  79 ׀ 83 ׀ 87

ل
اللكندي  71 ׀ 90

ليبيا  82
الصحراء الليبية  3 	

م
مالي  06 ׀ 34

مايرنو  06 ׀ 1 ׀ 2 ׀ 5 ׀ 46 ׀ 73 ׀ 90
محمد أبوبكر حسن جمعة/محمد  83–91

محمد الأمين حسن إبراهيم/محمد  07 ׀ 
76–71

محمد المهدي أحمد الناير/محمد المهدي  
36–33

محمد بابكر سعيد/محمد بابكر  33
محمد عيسى ثابت/محمد  65–70

المدينة  46
مراكش  80

المرفع  06 ׀ 79 ׀ 83 ׀ 84 ׀ 89
مزارعون  56 ׀ 66 ׀ 69

مسبعات  16
مسرة  05

مسلمية )عرب(  3
المسلمية )قرية(  11

مشاريع زراعية  53 ׀ 54 ׀ 55 ׀ 58 ׀ 67 ׀ 
69

مصريون  7
مصطفى يعقوب بخيت/مصطفى  36–43

المغرب  6 ׀ 84
مك الجحمان  1

مكة  84
المهدي  05 ׀ 08 ׀ 14 ׀ 26 ׀ 36 ׀ 37 ׀ 

38 ׀ 39 ׀ 65 ׀ 84 ׀ 85 ׀ 86
المهدية  05 ׀ 06 ׀ 07 ׀ 08 ׀ 7 ׀ 26 ׀ 35 ׀ 

36 ׀ 37 ׀ 38 ׀ 39 ׀ 65 ׀ 84
مواشي  47 ׀ 48 ׀ 50 ׀ 53 ׀ 54 ׀ 65

أصحاب المواشي  53 ׀ 54 	
مؤسسة  68 ׀ 69

ن
ناصر أحمد عمر  82

ناظر أحمد السماني  65
نيجر  06

نيجيريا  06

ه
هاشم يحيى عبدالفضيل/هاشم  1–9

هجرة  05 ׀ 06
هوسا  71 ׀ 79 ׀ 83 ׀ 87 ׀ 89 ׀ 90

و
الواصلية  1 ׀ 2

واو  45 ׀ 46
ود العشا  3

ود مدني/مدني  50
ود هارون  39

ود هاشم )قرية(  05 ׀ 07 ׀ 08 ׀ 3 ׀ 5 ׀ 
12 ׀ 13 ׀ 15 ׀ 16 ׀ 17 ׀ 19
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ر
الرايات  12

الرنك  58
الرهيطة  35

الروصيرص  07
الروكب  33

ريبا  12 ׀ 18

ز
زراعة  7 ׀ 13 ׀ 27 ׀ 35 ׀ 51 ׀ 52 ׀ 55 ׀ 

56 ׀ 58 ׀ 67 ׀ 68 ׀ 69 ׀ 87 ׀ 89
زروقاب )فلاتة/فلاني(  05 ׀ 33 ׀ 73

زين العابدين  35 ׀ 39

س
سعاد  35

سعدون  83 ׀ 84 ׀ 85 ׀ 86
السعودية  46

سلطان ميورنو  05 ׀ 06
سليمان أحمد حسنين/سليمان  25–31

السمانية  12
سنار  05 ׀ 06 ׀ 07 ׀ 4 ׀ 48 ׀ 49 ׀ 50 ׀ 

71
خزان سنار  35 	

سنار التقاطع/التقاطع  11 	
سنار القديمة  1 ׀ 6 	

سنجة  27 ׀ 55
سندقة )فلاتة/فلاني(  05 ׀ 07 ׀ 65 ׀ 73 ׀ 

76 ׀ 79 ׀ 81 ׀ 86
سنغال  06

سوبا  37
السوكي  06 ׀ 07 ׀ 25 ׀ 26 ׀ 35 ׀ 39 ׀ 
45 ׀ 46 ׀ 47 ׀ 48 ׀ 49 ׀ 50 ׀ 58 ׀ 

71 ׀ 72 ׀ 73 ׀ 74 ׀ 75

ش
شاشينا  25
شامية  53
الشقلة  07

شمال إفريقيا  08 ׀ 5
شناقيط )موريتانيين(  1 ׀ 3 ׀ 4

شندي  33
شيخ إبراهيم سالم  41

شيخ التوم ود بانقا/شيخ محمد توم ود بانقا  
11 ׀ 12 ׀ 18 ׀ 19

شيخ الطيب ود سالم  39
شيخ طلحة )شيخ(  08 ׀ 2 ׀ 5 ׀ 86

الشيخ طلحة )قرية(  05 ׀ 08 ׀ 35 ׀ 72 ׀ 
86

شيخ فضل الناير/شيخ فضل  42 ׀ 43
شيخ محمد توم  08 ׀ 2 ׀ 5 ׀ 36 ׀ 37 ׀ 

80 ׀ 81 ׀ 86
شيخ هجو  12

شيخ ودهاشم  2 ׀ 3 ׀ 6 ׀ 11 ׀ 12 ׀ 13 ׀ 
14 ׀ 15 ׀ 18 ׀ 35

ص
صابون قلاديما/قلاديما  73

صكتو  06
صكتو فلاني/فلاتة صكتو  05 ׀ 45 	

صليحاب/صليحابية )برقو/مبا(  07 ׀ 45 ׀ 
50

ط
الطاهر  05 ׀ 06

طريقة )الصوفية(  12 ׀ 52 ׀ 67 ׀ 84
الطوي  79

ع
عباسية تقلي  45 ׀ 47

عبدالجليل آدم حسين/مولانا عبدالجليل  89
عبدالله بن العباس  40

عبودة  53
عرب  05 ׀ 07 ׀ 08 ׀ 53 ׀ 72 ׀ 82 ׀ 83

عرديبة أب قرن )عريديبة(  5
العزازة  11

عمدة إبراهيم يونس  07
عمدة مساعد  87

عمدة يعقوب آدم يعقوب  07
عسلانقا  05

عمر محمد قدس عبدالله/عمر  06 ׀ 
59–45

غ
غرب إفريقيا  05 ׀ 06 ׀ 08 ׀ 1 ׀ 8 ׀ 72

غرناطة  5
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Index/

أ
أبوحجار  12
أبوعجاج  39

الأبيض  26 ׀ 33 ׀ 48
أحمد أبوبكر حسن جمعة/أحمد  79–82

أشراف  91
أصحاب الرخص  69

أم جبو )فلاتة/فلاني(  26
أم دبيكرات  86

أمدرمان  05 ׀ 06 ׀ 07 ׀ 37 ׀ 39 ׀ 40 ׀ 
65 ׀ 81

أمدرمان فلاتة )قرية(  71 ׀ 90
أم دم  15

أم روابة  14
أم فراتيت  53

الأندلس  5 ׀ 6 ׀ 80
إنجليز/بريطاني  08 ׀ 51 ׀ 72

أنصار  08 ׀ 80
أولاد عتمانة )فلاتة/فلاني(  05

إيبا فلاني/فلاتة إيبا  07
إيسوجي )فلاتة/فلاني(  07
ايكا فلاني/فلاتة ايكا  07

ب
بخت الرضا  50

برنو  89
برنو فلاني/فلاتة برنو  05 	

البساطة  39
البطانة  53

بقارة  38
بله الطاهر محمد سالم/بله  07 ׀ 15–17

بوركينا فاسو  06
بيلو الداداري  37 ׀ 39 ׀ 40

ت
التجانية  84

تريرة كوع النحل/كوع النحل  06 ׀ 81 ׀ 86
تقابة  05 ׀ 17 ׀ 36 ׀ 80

تلس  07 ׀ 81 ׀ 82
تلف )في المزارع(  54 ׀ 69 ׀ 70 ׀ 88

تلودي  45 ׀ 47
تونس  08 ׀ 74

تيقو  15

ج
جبال النوبة  45

جبل أم علي  33
الجزيرة  08 ׀ 3

جعليين  16 ׀ 28
جوامعة  16 ׀ 87

جوبا  33

ح
حاج الطاهر  1 ׀ 2 ׀ 3 ׀ 4 ׀ 5 ׀ 6 ׀ 11 ׀ 

14
حجاز  33

الحزب الاتحادي الديمقراطي/الاتحاديين  7
الحزب الشيوعي  18 ׀ 19

حسيناب  07 ׀ 75 ׀ 79
حسينية  74 ׀ 81 ׀ 91
حلة إسماعيل  06 ׀ 1

حلة بقي  46
حلة ود ناصر  39

حمدنا الله  05

خ
الخرطوم  14 ׀ 19 ׀ 51

خليفة عبدالله  08 ׀ 37 ׀ 38 ׀ 39 ׀ 65 ׀ 
85 ׀ 86

خليل  87
خور البوج  35

د
دارفور  05 ׀ 07 ׀ 08 ׀ 65 ׀ 79

دار مالي  33 ׀ 34
دريبو  12

الدمازين  06
دناقلة  07 ׀ 16

الدندر  53 ׀ 55 ׀ 56 ׀ 57 ׀ 58
دنقلا  6 ׀ 14
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Photo 22: The Sindiga Fulani neighbourhood in al-Muraffa   
 (AL-AMIN ABU-MANGA, 2013)

Photo 21: (Home) cattle of Mu ammad Abu-Bakr asan Jum a after their return from grazing in 
the evening, al-Muraffa  (AL-AMIN ABU-MANGA, 2013)
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Photo 20: (Home) cattle of Mu ammad Abu-Bakr asan Jum a after their return from grazing in 
the evening, al-Muraffa  (AL-AMIN ABU-MANGA, 2013)

Photo 19: Mu ammad Abu-Bakr asan Jum a (on the left) interviewed in his house in al-Muraffa
 ( MAD UMAR, 2011)
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INTERVENTION BY AN-
OTHER MAN
Now people talk about the 
Civil Register and registra-
tion, and so on. There are 
some rumours saying that it 
is most probable that…

MU AMMAD
These same youths who de-
viated and said that they are 

useiniyya (descendants of 
usein11) or ashraaf (de-

scendants of the Prophet),12 

and that they are not Fal-
laata (Fulani), are the same 
people who brought the 

identities) saying: “These 

and these are second class 
(the Hausa).” This (claim to 
be useiniyya) is just a 
propaganda that they clan-
destinely spread to us in or-
der to make us abandon Fal-
laata (identity, i.e., Fulani 
identity) and follow their 
path (in taking an Arab 
identity). [Some of the at-
tendants laugh.] We will 
never follow them until the 
day of resurrection. Al-
Amin, have you recorded 
this speech of mine? I want 
this speech of mine to be 
 recorded and heard 
 everywhere. 

11   This usein is indeed claimed to be one of the two well-known grandsons of the Prophet.
12   See previous interview for another view.
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Hausa. Then Mawlaana 
Abdaljaliil wrote in the 
newspaper: “The Hausa 
represent themselves and 
they are not represented by 
the Fulani.” This is what 
engendered hatred between 
the Fulani and the Hausa 
and caused what took place 
in al-Lakandi and Omdur-
man Fallaata.10 People have 
a plan to organise them-
selves, but they fall in a 
mistake that causes separa-
tion between them. Former-
ly, there was no separation 
at all between the Fulani 
and the Hausa; there was 
mutual respect between 
them. What I witnessed is 
the following: if the Sultan 
(Mu ammad aahir) sum-
moned someone to Maiur-
no in the night, by Allah, he 
would be there before the 
morning. But, today, if Ab-
bakar (the present Sultan of 
Maiurno) summons some-
one, by Allah, sometimes 
he may not go. I am living 
in this area; I am not a poli-
tician, but I  experienced all 
these  problems.

10   In 2002, a quarrel took place in Ab- ajar village between a Fulani man and Hausa man from  
the neighbouring village of Omdurman Fallaata situated ca. 50 km south of as-Suuki. That was 
on the eve of Iid al-Kabiir (Muslim festival). On the following day, i.e., the day of the Iid,  
a group of Hausa of Omdurman Fallaata attacked several Fulani and killed four of them. Three 
Hausa were found guilty and sentenced to death. Before the execution, a Fulani shot one 
Hausa to death and disappeared, what equalised the number of the dead from the two sides. 
Hostilities between the two communities continued for years, but in the end they reconciled  
and they are again living together peacefully now. 

a
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Q: Didn’t you care about 
farming? Did you only have 
these animals (cattle) of 
yours?

(When we came here), we 
did not care about farming; 
we used to exploit this area 
(river banks) for grazing 
our animals. When we 
came, this place was a bush. 
Had we cared about farm-
ing, by Allah, half of this 
area would have been ours. 
But we cared about live-
stock more than about 
 farming.

Q: In some way you also 
need to collaborate with 
(members of) other tribes 
like the Hausa and the 
 Borno. You need to strength-
en your position through 
their support, because 
alone you will also be weak.

First, Mawlaana Abdal-
jaliil9 came to us in al-
Muraffa ; before, it was 
written in the newspapers 
that no one should distin-
guish between the Hausa 
and the Fulani. If you come 

established as its sheikh or 
(local) head or anything 
else (another leading posi-
tion). The Fulani were 
 given due respect by the    
9   This is the late Abdaljaliil Adam usein, judge of the Higher Court based in Khartoum, a 

Hausa activist who encouraged his people to break away from the Fulani.
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knew our  people and had re-
spect for them. As soon as 
they (i.e., our people) came, 
they (the Omda and the 
sheikh) welcomed them and 
my father was given two 
houses by the A a Al- 
Mannaans. At that time our 
relatives, the Hausa, were 
not as numerous as they are 
now. We lived with them 
(  inhabitants of al-
Muraffa ) peacefully with-
out any problems. In fact, if 
cattle owners cause damage 
to farmers, the latter will not 
be happy even if they (the 
cattle owners) are their 
brothers.8

Q: Does damage happen 

solve such the problem?

It (damage by animals) hap-
pens. By Allah, they usually 
solve it (such a problem) on 
the basis of customary law 
and (state) law. If your ani-
mals cause damage to the 
farmer, you sit down, esti-
mate his right and you pay 
him. However, there are 
nice people who will say to 
you: “You, man, you are 
forgiven for the sake of Al-
lah and the Prophet; there is 
nothing (harmful) between 
us.” But there are others 
who want their right; they 
are (then) given their right.

8  The term ‘brother’ is used loosely here and also as an expression of modesty.

a
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growing youths have put an 
(awkward) idea in their 
mind. Let me put it bluntly. 
These aspiring youths do 
not want anything that links 
them with the Fallaata (Fu-
lani); these are the growing 
youths, the children of the 
(present) sheikh. These 
things have made us refrain 
from approaching them or 
seeking wives from them.

Q: Do you remember when 
you came to settle here… At 
that time the land must in-
deed have (been adminis-
tered by) sheikhs and 
 Omdas… Did they (your rel-
atives) take permission from 
someone to stay here, or did 
you just come and stay?

Our relatives,7 the Kawaahla, 
whom we found here, the 
Omda and the sheikh, re-
ceived us. The Jawaam a 
who were living here gave 
us houses to stay in. The 
Omda Musaa ad was with 
our people there in Khaliil; 
they were co-residing with 
one another. So, when we 
came (to al-Muraffa ), our 
people were already known 
to them (the Omda and the 
sheikh). In other words, we 
did not come just like this, 
saying, “Peace be upon you” 
(Assalaamu alaykum – i.e., 
we did not come as 
 strangers). They already    
7   Same remark with regard to the use of the term ‘relatives’ as in footnote 3.
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entire cattle to Bayt al-Maal 
(Muslim/ Mahdiyya treas-
ury). Then the Mahdi died 
and was succeeded by the 
Khaliifa ( Abdullaahi). As 
you know, people do not all 
have the same way of  
thinking; some of them re-
turned to Sa duun and 
Giree a and others re-
mained here (in central Su-
dan – Omdurman). Those 
who remained here (in Om-
durman) kept following the 
Mahdi’s Khaliifa (i.e., the 
Mahdi’s successor) until he 
martyred in Um Dibeekraat.  
After that, everyone (i.e., 
the members of our group) 
looked for a (new) place to 
settle. They settled in Gish-
eesh. From Gisheesh my 
grandfather, his brothers 
and his (paternal) cousins 
moved to Shaikh al a (vil-
lage). As soon as they came, 

the son of 
gave them a place called 
(Tireera) Kuu 6

 

 

 

Q: But now the Shaikh 
as (i.e., the members of 

a’s family) do 
not socially interact with 
these relatives of yours (i.e., 
the  Sindiga Fulani).

No, we do not have social 
relations with them (some 
of the descendants of 
Shaikh al a). These    
6   About 10 km west of as-Suuki.

a
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used to come through here 
 (Sennar area). At that time 
we settled there (probably 
Omdurman). When the 
Mahdi died (1885), our 
grandfather, asan (Jum a), 
came here (to the western 
side of the Blue Nile) and 
developed (a settlement in) 
Gisheesh.5 He died in Gish-
eesh. This grandfather of 
ours, whose name is found 
in the  (Khaliifa) museum 
(in Omdurman), is buried in 
Gisheesh. All these people 
sitting here [Mu ammad 
points to them, ca. 15–20 
people], their grandfather 
( asan Jum a) is buried in 
Gisheesh. We came to al-
Muraffa  around 1945, (the 
time of) the  Italian War (i.e., 
World War II).

Q: 
following: did your rela-
tives already come here 
with 
get them here? Because I 
noticed that in most of the 
houses they have cattle.

There were some of our peo-
ple from 

who took their  cattle 
along, driving them up to  
al-Fashashooya on the  
White Nile. (But) they left 
them (their cattle) in al- 
Fashashooya and proceeded 
to participate in the  Mahdi’s 

   
5   A few kilometers south-west of Singa.
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been known for cattle keep-
ing since their arrival (in 
 Sudan). My father was born 
in Sa duun (Southern 
 Darfur) and his father, 

asan (i.e., Jum a), 
was also born in Sacduun. 
But our (great) grandfather, 
Jum a, I think, entered 
Sa duun and Giree a and he 

-
laata – i.e., Fulani)4 to bring 
the Tijaniyya brotherhood 
in that area. This (great) 
grandfather of ours brought 
the Tijaniyya brotherhood 
to Sa duun. Of course, they 
all (initially) came from 
Maghreb (North Africa); 
our (great) grandfather en-
tered Sudan via African 
countries. That (great grand-
father) was Jum a Wad-
Samiin (i.e., Jum a, son of 
Samiin). When the Mahdi 
appeared, he called upon the 
followers of all (Islamic) de-
nominations to come and 
assist him in the Mahdiyya 
Revolution against the un-
believers. They all came 
from there (Darfur) under 
the banner of ‘No God ex-
cept Allah and Mu ammad 
is the Messenger of Allah’ 
(Laa ilaaha illa l-Laaha, 
Mu ammadun rasuulu l-
Laah). The people who 
 intended to go to Mecca    

 20 15

4   This statement according to which Jum a was a Fulani contrasts with that of his senior full 
brother (A mad Abu-Bakr asan Jum a; see previous interview) who claims that his paternal 
great grandfather, his paternal grandfather and his father were all Arabs and that he is only 
related to Fulani people from the maternal side (and not the paternal side, which constitutes the 
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INTERVIEW: MU AMMAD  
ABU-BAKR ASAN JUM

FULANI OF THE SINDIGA CLAN

AGE AND PLACE OF BIRTH OF THE INTERVIEWEE: 
80 years, born in Khaliil
DATE AND PLACE OF THE INTERVIEW: 
June 11, 2011; 
IN THE PRESENCE OF: 
15–20 Fulani men of different ages (18–80 years)

Q: 1 tell 
us your full name.

MU AMMAD
ammad 

Abu-Bakr asan Jumca; 
(Jumca, i.e., my great grand-
father, was nicknamed) 

‘Yaaja-Hoore’ (i.e., the 
‘wide-headed’ in Fulfulde – 
because he was bold).2

Q: I want to know which 
tribes are all living in al-
Muraffa (al- Umda). 

There are three tribes living 
in al-Muraffa . The largest 
one is that of our relatives, 
the Hausa;3 then these 
Kawaahla (Arabs). They are 
the ones we found and the 
Native Administration is in 
their hands. Then we came. 
In fact, our people were 
 nomad Arabs; they have    
1   The term ‘uncle’ is here used as a term of respect.
2   See also previous interview, footnote 4.
3   Here too, the use of the term ‘relatives’ is an expression of modesty (see also previous 

interview, footnote 1). 
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paternal cousins (there).4 If 
one goes there, one will not 

-
rect descent. Of course, a 
woman cannot constitute a 

-
tion. But they (i.e., our peo-
ple) are basically from 
 Tulus.

Q (Naa ir A mad Umar): 

(great) grandfather come 
along with this Fallaata 
(Fulani) wife of his, or did 
he marry her in Tulus?

These people (i.e., my 
[great] grandfather’s group 

Libya. They (i.e., my 
[great] grandfather’s group) 
came walking as nomad 
 Arabs. He (my [great] 
grandfather) met the Fal-
laata (Fulani) and entered 
into them. They continued 
(together), moving from 
Libya and coming to Darfur.

)  

4   On March 22, 2013, I interviewed a group of Sindiga Fulani from Southern Darfur in 
Omdurman, including a man whose grandfather was Mu ammad Jum a, a brother of asan 
Jum a. This man also mentioned a - uwai as the original home of his family but reported that 
his great grandfather (Jum a) had eight sons, According to him, four of these sons migrated 
to the east (i.e., central Sudan) and four remained in Darfur. He mentioned that his great 
grandfather was nicknamed ‘Jiga-Wuldu’ (‘vulture’s forehead’) because he was bold. Likewise, 
a full brother of A mad Abu-Bakr asan Jum a (see next interview) reported that their great 
grandfather (i.e., Jum a) was nicknamed ‘Yaaja-Hoore’ (‘the wide-headed’) due to his boldness.

a
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people can join. We know 
that Shaikh Mu ammad 
Toom played a big role in 
the making of these big 
 Ansar3 families…

Shaikh Mu ammad Toom 
(son of Shaikh al a) 
welcomed them, saying, 

“These are my relatives.” 
This is recorded. When 
Shaikh Mu ammad Toom 
met these relatives of his in 
Omdurman, he said: “These 
are my relatives.” After-
wards, they came and 
settled here and on the 
eastern side (of the Blue 
Nile), where he gave them 
this village of (Tireera) 
Kuu  an-Na al, saying that 
they were his paternal 
cousins. 

Q: Well, they (some of the 
descendants of Shaikh 
Mu ammad Toom) claim 
that they are useiniyya. I 
want you to explain to me 
this (blood) relationship. 
You said that you don’t have 
a pedigree. So, if someone 
asked me about them, could 
I say that these Sindiga 
Fallaata (i.e., these Sindiga 
Fulani) are originally 

useiniyya?

No, their maternal uncles 
are in Tulus (Southern 
Darfur), but they have no    
3   Ansar (Ar. an aar) are followers of the Mahdi and adherents to Mahdist ideology.



80

for our (great) grandfather, 
he was an Arab. We have 
roots in Darfur in a place 
called a - uwai, but all our 
people originate from one 
person (Jum a) who begot 

Q: An Arab from which 
tribe? Do you have an idea?

By Allah, what we came to 
know is that he left a pedi-
gree, but there is a certain 
group of people who kept it 
(hidden) in order to confuse 
our identity; but history re-
vealed it for us. He de-
scended from an Arab from 
Marrakesh (in Morocco). 
There were groups (of 
 Arabs) which used to enter 
Andalusia. Of course, there 
were groups which did not 
enter Andalusia; members 
of these groups entered 
 Africa; it is said that our 
(paternal) (great) grandfa-
ther descended from a 
(male) member of one of 
the latter groups.

Q: We know that people 
who move from a place to 
another, may, for example, 
have relatives who have 
(founded) a village in that 
other place… (In this vil-

brotherhood (
) with a big tuggaaba 

(a place for learning and 
reciting the Qur’an) that  

a
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INTERVIEW: A MAD  
ABU-BAKR ASAN JUM  

AGE AND PLACE OF BIRTH OF THE INTERVIEWEE: 
78 years, born in Khaliil
DATE AND PLACE OF THE INTERVIEW: 
June 11, 2011; 
IN THE PRESENCE OF: 
Naa ir A mad Umar, 35 years, born in Maiurno

Q: First, we want you to 
enumerate for us all the 
tribes living in al-Muraffa  
al- Umda.

A MAD
The original inhabitants of 
al-Muraffa  (village) are 
the Kawaahla (Arabs). Af-
terwards, we came and our 
relatives,1 these Hausa, 
came (after us). In the be-
ginning we were Fallaata 
(i.e., Fulani), but now we 
are useinaab. First, our 
(great) grandfather (Jum a) 
was an Arab;2 he entered 
into the Fallaata (i.e., he af-

group). We fully respect the 
Fallaata, but it was our 
(great) grandmothers who 
were Fallaata; the Fallaata 
are our maternal  uncles. As   

1   The use of the term ‘relatives’ is in this context an expression of modesty. In the Sudan, the 
term is often used by members of an ethnic group who perceive themselves as socially superior 
when referring to an ethnic group regarded as socially inferior. They say ‘relatives’ in an 
attempt of being modest vis-à-vis the other group.

2   This statement according to which the informant’s paternal (great) grandfather was an Arab 
contrasts with that of his younger full brother (Mu ammad Abu-Bakr asan Jum a; see next 
interview) who stresses that his father, his paternal grandfather and paternal great grandfather 
were all Fulani by agnatic descent.





Photo 18: Mu ammad Al-Amiin asan Ibrahiim (on the left), Commissioner of as-Suuki Locality 
  (BADR AL-DIIN M. AL-AMIIN, 2012)
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does not deny being so. 
This made many people in 
as-Suuki, who formerly 
used to see this issue (being 
Fallaata/Fulani) as a kind of 
inferiority, start to get rid of 
this feeling of inferiority 
and appear on the surface. 
The few people who still 
have a complex regarding 
this issue have started to be 
confronted with the reality. 
Recently, there was some-
one who went to have a cer-

for him. When asked about 
his tribe, he said: 

“ useinaab.” They (i.e., the 
authorities concerned) said 
to him: “There is nothing 
like this in the list of the Su-
danese tribes.” In the end 
he said: “Fallaata Sindiga” 
(i.e., Fulani of the Sindiga 
clan). This story was relat-
ed to me by someone called 
Ayyuub Mu ammad Booyi. 
Even historians say that it 
(i.e., ‘ useinaab’) is not 

tribe, not even as a clan. So, 
they started to become real-
istic and go back to their 
 original tribes.
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 Tunisia,” from so-and-so… 
Why didn’t this development 
apply to as-Suuki people? 
Why didn’t as-Suuki people 
try to get rid of what some 
people regard as a ‘stigma’, 
the ‘stigma’ of being 
Fallaata (Fulani)?

Frankly speaking, in the 
past there were complexes 
resulting from lack of edu-
cation. There were also 
some (blameworthy) ‘cus-
toms’ (deeds) by some 
tribes, which were (wrong-
ly) attributed to the Fallaata 
(Fulani). This made some 
people feel ashamed to say 
that they were Fallaata. But 
in the last decades, educa-
tion has spread and the 
 educated members of the 
(Fallaata/Fulani) tribe them-
selves, the medical doctors, 
the engineers (and so on), 
say loudly that they are Fal-
laata. So, many people 
(with a passive attitude to-

have now seen that this per-
son is an engineer; this one 
is a minister; that one is a 
commissioner of a locality; 
yet, they (these educated 
people) do not deny being 
Fallaata… well-known peo-
ple in the society. Even you, 
Professor Abu-Manga; peo-
ple know this professor in 
the whole Sudan… having 
educational programs on 
TV; he is a Fallaata and he   
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it is because I came as 
 commissioner of the locali-
ty and belong to these tribes. 
But, in as-Suuki, there are 
whole quarters inhabited 
exclusively by the Fallaata. 
They themselves speak 
(about it) and say to me: 

“All this quarter belongs to 
your relatives;4 this whole 
quarter belongs to the Fal-
laata Zarruugaab; and so on 
and so forth.” Formerly, 
they were not apparent to 
other people (as Fallaata/
Fulani), but now they have 
started to activate this iden-
tity: “We are Fallaata, but 
we do not speak the vernac-
ular (Fulfulde); we were 
not taught the vernacular.” 
They have got rid of this 
complex and started to 

 ‘enter’ the society with their 
identity as Fallaata (i.e., 
 Fulani).

Q: Well, according to expe-
rience, when the Fallaata 
(Fulani) lose their (ances-
tral) language and all (as-
pects of) their culture, and 
their language becomes 
Arabic, they start to change 
their (ethnic) identity. They 
start to say: “We are not 
Fallaata (Fulani); we 
are…” They then adopt the 
name of another tribe: 

useiniyya, useinaab, 
and so on. They also say: 

“Our father came from  

4   The term ‘relatives’ is used loosely here to stress shared ethnic background.
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from West Africa, and the 
British did not want the Old 
Fulani to go backward. 
Now, of course, the Fallaa-
ta Mawaaliid have become 
culturally and linguistically 
Arabs while these here (the 
new Fulani immigrants, i.e., 
these Post-Mahdism Fulani 
immigrants) still speak the 
vernacular and their cul-
ture (still) includes rem-
nants (aspects) from West 
Africa. To what extent do 
you feel that there is a line 
of demarcation between 
these two groups in as-Suu-
ki Locality, in interactions, 
concepts and such matters? 

Before coming here, I used 
to hear that there are Fal-
laata Mawaaliid, Fallaata 
Zarruugaab (i.e., Fulani of 
the Zarruugaab clan), Fal-
laata (Fulani) I don’t know 
what… (I heard that) they 
were not willing to interact 
with the other Fallaata in 
( aabuun) Galaadiima and 
Maiurno.2 But frankly 
speaking, now this tenden-
cy has almost disappeared. 
People come and say to me: 

“I am your cousin.”3 In the 
past, they did not say that 
they were Fallaata; instead, 
they used to say that they 
were Sindiga. Now they say 
it loudly (that they are 
 Fallaata)… I don’t know if  

 

  
2   These are Fulfulde-speaking Fulani.
3   The term ‘cousin’ is used loosely here to stress shared ethnic background.
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one another without any 
tribal distinction. I neither 
witnessed nor have been 
told about someone who 
asked the hand of a woman 
in marriage (and tribal af-

-
cle). If you have a work 
(i.e., a source of income) 
and ask the hand of any girl, 
nobody will care about 
your being Fallaati (pl. Fal-
laata – i.e., Fulani) or Ja li 
(pl. Ja liyyiin) or Shaaygi 
(pl. Shaaygiyya); they (as-
Suuki people) do not have 
this (i.e., ethnic identity as 
an obstacle to marriage).

 

Q: Well, as colonial rulers, 
the British tried to isolate 
the South (of Sudan) from 
the North in the same way 
they tried to hinder any co-
operation between the old 
and the new Fallaata (Fu-
lani) immigrants. There 
was an intentional policy 
not to allow (Fallaata) 
Mawaaliid1 (in as-Suuki, 
Tireera Kuu  an-Na al and 

a) to have con-
tact with vernacular-speak-
ing Fallaata. Their argu-
ment was that these Old 
Fulani (i.e., these Fallaata 
Mawaaliid) had already 
lost the characteristics they 
had once brought with them   
1   The term ‘Fallaata Mawaaliid’ (or ‘al-Fallaata al-Mawaaliid’) is used (by others) to designate 

those Fulani whose mothers are from non-Fulfulde-speaking Fulani groups or more broadly 
from Arab tribes. The term is largely applicable to the Old Fulani of Shaikh al a (village) and 
as-Suuki.
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INTERVIEW: MU AMMAD AL-AMIIN  
ASAN IBRAHIIM (COMMISSIONER OF 

AS-SUUKI LOCALITY)
BORNO FULANI

AGE AND PLACE OF BIRTH OF THE INTERVIEWEE: 
59 years, born in Maiurno 
DATE AND PLACE OF THE INTERVIEW: 
February 4, 2012; Omdurman

Q: In the Sudan, and more 
generally in Africa, tribal 
distinctions appear in the 
matter of marriage. Mar-
riage is the strongest 
stronghold in which aspira-

-
alism off-casting are de-
stroyed. So, to what extent 
do you feel that (the mem-
bers of) these tribes, which 
are living in as-Suuki 
 Locality, can marry in any 
other tribe?

MU AMMAD
(As-Suuki) is perhaps the 
only area in which I lived in 
Sennar State and did not 
feel any (tribal) differences. 
I witnessed in as-Suuki 
town (occasions where) 
Hausa men married in other 
tribes. In as-Suuki, I saw an 
Arab man married to a 
Hausa woman. In this 
locality, from as-Suuki up 
to Omdurman Fallaata, al-
Lakandi and other places, 
there are tribes married into    



Photo 17: Mu ammad Iisa Thaabit (on the left), a settled cattle owner celebrated by Sennar State 
 

  (MU AB M. UMAR QUDUS, 2013)
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for farming. Rain-fed farm-
ing schemes expanded and 
there are no more passages 
(for the livestock) except 
through the schemes. 
Therefore, damage in the 
scheme has become fre-
quent, and when it happens, 
the matter ends in one of the 
following three ways:
  The culprit escapes  
without being caught;
  The matter is settled 
through negotiation be-
tween the cattle owner and 
the scheme owner;
  The matter is taken to the 
court for settlement.

 

 

 

 

Iisa Thaabit
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JANUARY 2, 2013

Q: Tell us about the kind of 
problems that occur 
between the farmers and 
the animals’ owners (i.e., 
the cattle owners), their 
causes and the way they are 
solved. 

MU AMMAD 
Formerly, the (open) land 
was wide and farming was 
limited. The animals grazed 
comfortably. Pressure start-
ed in 1996.4 Before, in the 
days of the ‘licenses’ (pri-
vate cotton schemes owner-
ship), the schemes operated 
according to a three-turn 
system: a turn for cotton, a 
turn for sorghum and a turn 
for animals, i.e., a plot was 
left for pasture. Besides, the 
animals could also graze 
the residue of cotton and 
sorghum (after the harvest). 
So, there was no problem. 
In 1973, the Mu assasa re-
placed the ‘Owners of Li-
censes’. It followed the 
‘Owners of Licenses’ with 
regard to the three-turn sys-
tem, but the animals’ turn 
was exploited for invest-
ment. Thus, the animals be-
came without lot. The land 
narrowed and the passages 
(for livestock) closed. Even 
the ponds, which were for-
merly left for the livestock 
to graze, are now exploited   

4   The Mu assasa was indeed dissolved by the present regime in 1996. 
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living. The Sudan (econo-
my) depends mainly on ani-
mal resource; this is the 
biggest productive sector 
for the government because 
it does not involve any 
costs (input); animal re-
source depends on natural 
inputs. This contrasts with 
agriculture, which involves 
costs (input).

Q: How about agriculture? 

Now agriculture has deteri-
orated; rain has decreased 
and mechanical irrigation is 
not receiving any kind of 
support. We materially lost 
interest in agriculture with 
the loss (dissolution) of the 
Mu assasa (Corporation).3 
Since the Mu assasa left, 
bounties have also left. 

 

3   Cotton-growing administration system following the privatization of schemes, a policy which 
had been adopted in the 1970s during the Numeiri regime.

Iisa Thaabit
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have to buy grass for your 
animals; you move from  

 jarif (a farm located on a 
river bank) to another until 
the rainy season comes. 
And if we go far to the rain-
fed mechanical farming 
schemes, there is no water 
(for the animals) or protec-
tion. You are carrying a 
stick and someone (a rob-
ber) comes carrying a JM3 
(gun). He drives away the 
animals and asks the herds-
man to follow them. If he 
shows any resistance, the 
man (i.e., the robber) will 
shoot him and drive away 
the animals. So, the ani-
mals die because of lack of 
medicine; they die of hun-
ger; they die of thirst; and 
they are not reproducing at 
the same rate as before. In 
former times, the animals 
were sent to the bush, where 
there was enough pasture; 
so, they used to reproduce 
and increase annually. They 
used to graze and come 
back safely. Now you have 
to buy residue of harvested 
schemes. There is no sup-
port (by the government). 
Now we insist on keeping 
these animals only because 
we are accustomed to them. 
But the business is not re-
warding; nothing but loss. 
The animals do not sustain 
themselves; nevertheless 
we rely on them for our   
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remain up to the end and 
martyr with the Khaliifa 
( Abdullaahi).”1 Part of 
them went back to their 
home area, Giree a (in 
Southern Darfur). Now they 
have an Omodiyya (with an 
Omda) subordinated to 
 Nazir2 A mad as-Sam-
maani. (Another) part 
moved to the ‘South’ ( a iid 

– i.e., towards the Sennar 
area). Those who moved 
southwards came along 
with the rest of their cattle 
and sheep. All the Fallaata 
(Fulani) are cattle people. 
When the (cotton) tenancies 
came, people settled in vil-
lages, took their children to 
school and got tenancies. 
Now they are farmers and 
some of them are cattle 
owners.

Q: You have said that you 
are charged 4,000 (i.e., 4 
Sudanese pounds) as taxes 
per head of cattle in a year. 
But this is not that much. 

Before, it was not like this. 
Formerly, (veterinary) med-
icine was free; there was no 
problem with pasture in the 
bush. Now there is hardly a 
shibir (ca. 15 cm) of land 
unoccupied with farms. You    
1   This is the successor of the Mahdi, who ruled for 16 years after the Mahdi’s death (1885–1890). 

He was defeated by the British colonial forces at the Karari battle (1898) and killed a year later 
at the Um Dibeekraat battle in Kordofan.

2   ‘Nazir’ is an Arabic title (Ar. naa ir) held by paramount chiefs in the Native Administration 
system introduced by the British. 
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INTERVIEW:  
MU AMMAD IISA THAABIT 

FULANI OF THE SINDIGA CLAN

AGE AND PLACE OF BIRTH OF THE INTERVIEWEE: 
59 years, born in Tireera Kuu  an-Na al
DATES AND PLACE OF THE INTERVIEWS: 
June 13, 2011, and January 2, 2013; as-Suuki

JUNE 13, 2011

Q: When the Mahdiyya 
emerged, did your relatives, 
the Sindiga (Fallaata/
Fulani), abandon animal 
husbandry?

MU AMMAD 
The Fallaata Sindiga (i.e., 
Fulani of the Sindiga clan) 
moved from Darfur to Om-
durman during the 
 Mahdiyya (1882–1898). 
They came with their cattle 
and stayed in aaj Yuusif 
(Khartoum North). They 
used to milk their cows and 
take the milk to the Mahdi-
yya (administrative circle 
in Omdurman). Before the 
battle (of Karari, 1898), 
there was an unrest; people 
were attacked and robbed. 
The Fallaata (Fulani) divid-
ed (in opinion). They gath-
ered and (some of them) 
said: “Brothers, the Mahdi 

mission; let us go back.” 
The leaders said: “We 
should not return; let us  

 

  





Photo 15: Ripe sorghum at Scheme Umar Mu ammad Qudus, Um Bagara area, ca. 300 km east 
of as-Suuki, February 2013  (MU AB M. UMAR QUDUS, 2013)

Photo 16: Sesame residue at Scheme Umar Mu ammad Qudus, Um Bagara area, ca. 300 km east 
of as-Suuki, February 2013 (MU AB M. UMAR QUDUS, 2013)
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Photo 13: Scheme Umar Mu ammad Qudus, Um Bagara area, ca. 300 km east of as-Suuki, 
February 2013 (MU AB M. UMAR QUDUS, 2013)

Photo 14: Scheme Umar Mu ammad Qudus, Um Bagara area, ca. 300 km east of as-Suuki, 
February 2013 (MU AB M. UMAR QUDUS, 2013)
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Photo 11: Tractor driver’s hut at Scheme Umar Mu ammad Qudus, Um Bagara area, ca. 300 km 
east of as-Suuki, February 2013  (MU AB M. UMAR QUDUS, 2013)

Photo 12: Supervisor’s compound at Scheme Umar Mu ammad Qudus, Um Bagara area, ca. 300 
km east of as-Suuki, February 2013  (MU AB M. UMAR QUDUS, 2013)

61 Old Fulani in the Sennar Area (Sudan)



Photo 8: Cattle inside Scheme Umar Mu ammad Qudus, Um Bagara area, ca. 300 km east of 
as-Suuki, February 2013  (MU AB M. UMAR QUDUS, 2013)

Photo 9: Combine harvesters at Scheme Umar Mu ammad Qudus, Um Bagara area, ca. 300 km 
east of as-Suuki, February 2013  (MU AB M. UMAR QUDUS, 2013)

Photo 10: Agricultural machineries at Scheme Umar Mu ammad Qudus, Um Bagara area, ca. 
300 km east of as-Suuki, February 2013  (MU AB M. UMAR QUDUS, 2013)
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Umar Mu ammad Qudus (on the left), initiator of mechanical rain-fed farming in 

time) in his house in as-Suuki on January 2, 2013 (MU AB M. UMAR QUDUS, 2013)
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won the prize of the best 
scheme in the Sudan. The 
festival took place in Renk 
(Upper Nile  Province in 
present-day South Sudan).
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harvesters of the brand 
‘Class’. That was a histori-
cal event in the entire 
Dinder area. We used to 
cultivate for them (i.e., the 
rest of the farmers). We es-
tablished a camp (Kambo – 
inside our scheme) for the 
maintenance of the farming 
machineries and provided it 
with an electricity generator 
and a welding machine. 
Our camp became a work-
shop; whoever had his trac-
tor broken would drag it to 
our camp for reparation; 
whoever had a harrowing 
disc broken would bring it 
to us. We used to do it free 
of charge. This was just 
 because of our experience.

-
vesters in the area were 
brought by us in 1976. They 
were of the mark ‘Class’. 
When they arrived at the 
market place, the entire 
town of as-Suuki came out 
to look at them, wondering 
what how they worked. 
We continued in this way; 

praise be to Allah (al-
amdu li l-Laah), our land 

is there until today. We 
reached (possessed) up to 
10–15 tractors. Now I have 

-initiator of rain-fed me-
chanical farming in the area 
of Dinder, signed by Wadii  

abashi, the Minister of 
Agriculture during the 
 Numeiri regime. We also   

Interview: Abdullaahi
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these children of Qudus 
possess tractors, which we 
look at with admiration; we 
want these people to be our 
guides in experience. They 
were in Gedaref before and 
they have experience in 
mechanical farming. We 
have no objection. You, 
people (i.e., all the above-
mentioned big farmers), 
how do you think about 
giving them their (already 
existing) site?” They all 
unanimously answered: 

“We have no objection.” 
The inspector said: “In this 
case allow me to go out and 
ring the minister to have his 
permission.” He went out, 
called the minister, came 
back and said to the expert: 

“Alright, draw out the map.” 
He drew out the map and 
found that our sites were 
No. 67 and 68. These num-
bers were taken out of the 
bag (and registered in our 
names). This is our 
 beginning.

Q: Wasn’t there any racism 
or anything like that at that 
time?

No, not at all. By Allah, 
these Dinder people, we 

‘harmonised with them’ (in-
sajamna ma aahum – i.e., 
we had friendly relations 
with them). When the 
scheme succeeded, we 
brought two combine    
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up and said to the inspector: 
“Sir, we want to tell you that 
we (already) brought a trac-
tor and started working 
with it in a place in this area 
before your work (planning 
of schemes distribution) be-
gan. We have cleared this 
place and started working. 
We have already started 
farming in Dinder. There-
fore, if possible, we want 
you to give us our site be-
cause we have already 
cleared it.” Here, there was 
nobody else who owned a 
tractor or cleared anything 
at that time. He (i.e., the in-
spector) stood up and said: 

“We are not permitted to 
give anybody (a scheme) 
unless he puts his hand in 
the bag and draws out a 
number (lot).” This is a 
(part of) history, which I re-
member very well. There 
were (also) the (big) 
traders/farmers6 of Dinder 
(at that meeting); I mention 
them to you, may the Al-
mighty Allah have mercy 
upon them (i.e., they are 
dead): usein Kassala’s 
children, Mu ammad 
Abdalra iim, Ra amtalla, 
and Wad al-Amiir – (these 
were) the four big farmers 
in the area. Kassala, the fa-
ther of usein, stood up 
and said: “Mr. Inspector,   

Interview: Abdullaahi

6  
not affordable to small farmers. In the 1970s, big traders were among the wealthy people who 
became increasingly engaged in such a farming system.
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a bailer ( aamin) because 
his herds are in the area and 
the herders are known to 
the schemes’ owners.

Q: How did you get these 
schemes?

We heard news (about the 
distribution of farming 
schemes). We went to Sin-
ga and saw the announce-
ment that farming schemes 
were going to be planned 
and distributed. Whoever 
had a tractor and a trailer 
would be allotted a plot of 
scheme. Even combine har-
vester was not mentioned 
as condition. We immedi-
ately submitted our applica-
tions, in my name and my 
brother’s name (Muusa). 
The applications were to be 
submitted to the agricultur-
al inspector in Singa. At 
that time (1972–73), my 
brother and I used to have 
about 10 tractors. The min-
ister (of agriculture) at that 
time was Wadii  abashi 
and the director of mechan-
ical farming was Amiir 
Abdalla Khaliil. The agri-
cultural inspector in Singa 
was called as-Sir and the 
expert was called Ma muud. 
They came to Dinder and 
called upon us, the appli-
cants. We entered the hall 
of Dinder. That was in 
1972–73, during the Maayu 
(Numeiri) regime. I stood    
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cattle owners free of charge. 

six years; afterwards, we 
started charging them for 
the residue. Every scheme 
has its guards. After the 
harvest, we negotiate with 
the cattle owners on the 
residue. In the dry season 
from March to May, the 
herders move to the al-
Bu aana area.5 So, until the 
period of weeding and the 
beginning of the harvest 
there are no cattle (or 
sheep) in the area. They 
come during the harvest pe-
riod, i.e., in December and 
January. Herders do not 
damage farms intentionally 
and when the herd goes out 
of control and damage the 
farm, the Public Committee 
(al-Lajna ash-Sha biyya) 
of the nearest village to the 
place is sought for settling 
the matter. The committee 
visits the site together with 
the scheme’s owner and the 
cattle owner and estimates 
the damage. The cost is 
usually agreed upon 
through negotiation. The 
matter reaches the police 
only in exceptional cases. 
Otherwise, the cattle owner 
accepts the deal and prom-
ises to pay the cost. On the 
market day, he takes some 
cattle to sell and secure the 
money. There is no need for  

5   Al-Bu Wad 
Medani northwards up to the edges of Khartoum and eastward up to the Gedaref area.

Interview: Abdullaahi
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JANUARY 2, 2013

Q: Uncle Umar, we want 
you to tell us about the be-
ginnings of your agricul-
tural schemes and how they 
developed.

UMAR
We (i.e., my brother Muusa 
and I) started (mechanical 
rain-fed farming) in the 
area of Um Faraatiit, near 
Abbuuda village in the 
lands of Dinder, about 40 
km from the ‘closed area’ 
(Dinder National Park). 
That was in 1970, before 
the distribution of schemes 
(i.e., before the beginning 
of the planning of mechani-
cal rain-fed farming). There 
used to be large numbers of 
Arabs’ cattle herds (in the 
area of Um Faraatiit); the 
Fallaata (Fulani) had not 
yet come to this area. There 
was no farm damage (by 
grazing animals) because 
there was wide unfarmed 
land (for grazing). Two 
years later came the (farm-
ing schemes) ‘planning’; 
they (i.e., the  authorities 
concerned) planned for us 
to get a scheme near a vil-
lage called Shaamiyya 
about 7–8 km away from 

-
ning, 80 schemes were dis-
tributed. That was in 1972–
73. After the harvest, we 
used to let the residue for    
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Q: Where did you learn to 
do this?

We were trained in Gedaref. 
The engineers, I remember, 
were white people (kha-
waajaat): a Canadian and a 
British; (but) there was a 
(Sudanese) expert with 
them called Mu ammad 
Ayyuub, from the Kunuuz 
(Nile Nubians) tribe. These 
were the people responsible 
of the farms. They brought 
tractors. The Canadian and 
the American were special-
ised in agriculture. They 
trained us in  operating the 
farming machineries. We 
got trained, obtained the 

When Independence came, 
they (i.e., the Europeans) 
were sent away with the in-
tention to bring well-
trained people from Gedar-
ef to train others on 
(mechanical) farming. We 
became no longer interest-
ed (in the work); we were 
given our entitlements and 
came back home. We (i.e., 
my brother and I) were the 

-
ing) irrigated farming in 
this area (as-Suuki and its 
surroundings).

 

Interview: Abdullaahi
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primary level examina-
tions) and were to be taken 
to the intermediate school 
in Bakht ar-Ri a; they were  
accepted (admitted) there. 
But our relatives came and 
said to my father: “ aaj 
Qudus, how do you allow 
your children to study un-
der the British? After hav-
ing been educated up to this 
level, do you still want to 
take them to the British?” 
His colleagues, the fugara 
(learned people), said to 
him: “Never allow your 
children to go away from 
you.” My brother’s col-
leagues have now become 
very big people of the state. 
We went to Gedaref and 

then the Independence (of 
Sudan) came (1956). 

Q: Were you employees or 
farming on your own in 
Gedaref? 

We were mechanics of trac-
tors in mechanical farming 
schemes.4 My brother was a 

barraad) 
as he had attended a course 
on this profession in Khar-

driver; I operated combine 
harvesters ( a idaat) and 
tractors.

4   cal 
farming and is still the most important area in this domain.
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Q: What kind of work did 
your father do in as-Suuki?

Our family was quite big 
here (in as-Suuki). He (my 
father) was trading in cattle. 
At that time cattle were not 
that numerous in this area, 
yet he had many of them. 
Traders used to come from 
the direction of Gedaref, 
Wad Medani and Sennar to 
buy them from him. He be-
came very famous in this 
trade. People said: “If you 
want to buy sheep or cattle, 
you go to as-Suuki to some-
one called aaj Qudus; he 
has a very large number of 
cattle.” So, he stayed in as-
Suuki all this time, and af-
terwards he begot his four 
sons and seven daughters. 
He had two wives; both of 
them were from the 

ilee aab ( lei aab/Bor-
go branch of the Maba) 
tribe.

Q: It is notable that our 
relatives (i.e., the Fulani) 
did not allow their children 
go to school (of the Western 
type) in the past. How did 

education? 

I completed my primary 
education up to Class Four. 
My brother Muusa did the 
same. First, my brothers 
Ismaa iil and Muusa 

   

Interview: Abdullaahi
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entered the bridge and 
 continued to cross it for 
 almost one hour. The peo-
ple crossing to the eastern 
side (of the Blue Nile) were 
walking aside the cattle. By 
the time they had crossed 
(the bridge), half of the cat-
tle had not yet crossed. Peo-
ple asked: “Whose cattle 
are these?” “They belong to 
that man;” he was standing 
near his horse (waiting 
aside). When the last herd 
entered the bridge with the 
last (paid) herdsman and he 
was about to follow, the po-
liceman saw two rolled 
mats hanging on the horse, 
hiding something with 
pipes. He asked: “What is 
this?” (My father replied:) 

“Fire weapons.” Upon hear-

the entire crowd rushed to-
wards him. He was taken to 
the police station (for in-
vestigation). They asked 
him: “(Where is) your war-
rant?” He replied: “By Al-
lah, my warrant is with my 
children (i.e., my family) in 
as-Suuki.” He said to them: 

“If you want to know that 
my weapon is warranted, 
refer to the Sultan (of Mai-
urno); the Sultan knows 
that.” He was kept at the 
police station until the war-
rant was brought with the 
intervention of the Sultan 
(of Maiurno).
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number of cattle; it was 
said (that he brought) more 
than 300 head (to as-Suuki).

Q: Tell us about the history 
of your father’s arrival to 
this area.

-
on bearer, because in Kor-
dofan he used to be a cattle 
owner; he had two guns of 
the Ab-jigra brand. He got 
the warrant (for these weap-
ons) from the District In-
spector in El Obeid (Kordo-
fan). When bringing his 
cattle from there, he was 

(part of) history was narrat-
ed to us by the people who 
witnessed it. These cattle 
were very numerous. As 
soon as he reached the dam 
(the bridge of Sennar Dam), 
the entire (Sennar) market 
rushed to the dam. He came 
and the cattle entered the 
dam (bridge); he was ac-
companied by six (paid) 
herdsmen. He was riding a 
horse, on which he came 
from Kordofan with the cat-
tle. They (probably the au-
torities concerned) gave 
him permission to cross 
(the bridge). He was asked: 

“Where are you going?” 
(My father replied:) “To as-
Suuki.” “From where are 
you coming?” “From 
 Kordofan. I have my family 
in as-Suuki.” The cattle   

 

 

Interview: Abdullaahi
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four years, learning the 
Qur’an in the Prophetic 
Mosque. Afterwards, he en-
tered Jerusalem (Quds), 
where he spent two years, 

Azhar (al-Azhar al-Shariif – 
Cairo).3 All this period of 
learning enabled him to 
deepen his knowledge in Is-
lamic sciences. He obtained 

from al-Azhar. After that, 
he came back to us in as-
Suuki. At that time he had 

‘heavy’ (a large number of) 
cattle in Abbaasiyya 
Tagale. At that time we 
were not born, but he (al-
ready) had a family (on his 
own).

Q: Was he accompanied by 
his family during all these 
years he spent in the Holy 
Lands (Mecca and Medina), 
Jerusalem and al-Azhar al-
Shariif (Cairo)?

Yes, he was (there) with his 
family. He (then) went back 
to Abbaasiyya Tagale and 
Taloodi; he had (conjugal) 
families in all these places. 
After having agreed with 
the Sultan (of Maiurno) to 
bring his cattle to as-Suuki, 
he moved there and settled 
(in that village) with his 
(two) wives (and children). 
He indeed brought a large   

3   Al-Azhar al-Shariif is the oldest university in the world. It was founded in 970 and is still a 
renowned centre of Islamic scholarship.
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engaged in  teaching the 
Qur’an.

Q: Did you hear why he 
moved from the area of 
Wau?

He moved from the area of 
Wau in the direction of Mai-
urno to meet with the Sul-
tan (probably Mai-Wurno). 
When he arrived in Maiur-
no, he stayed for a period of 
time with the Sultan. He 
also met with the sheikhs of 
Shaikh al a (village) and 
afterwards proceeded to as-
Suuki.

Q: Did he have family in as-
Suuki by the time he came 
here?

Yes, he had relatives in as-
Suuki and relatives in illat 
Ba i (village), namely, the 
late Shaikh Ba i, the sheikh 
(and founder) of illat Ba i 
(village).2 He stayed with 
him for a while and then 
said to him: “After this long 
time travelling around, I 
want to settle in as-Suuki 
town.” Before being in 
Wau, my father was in Sau-
di Arabia. After having per-
formed ajj (pilgrimage), 
he stayed in Medina for    
2   This village is located ca. 10 km south of as-Suuki. The Fulani living in illat Ba i seem all 

Nigeria after the Burmi battle (1903) and 
came to Sudan in a kind of religiously motivated migration (hijra). Given this, they can be 
described as belonging to the division of Post-Mahdism Fulani immigrants. Like many other 
groups belonging to that division, these Fulani still maintain the use of their ancestral language 
(Fulfulde).
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INTERVIEW: UMAR MU AMMAD 

QUDUS ABDULLAAHI
SOKOTO FULANI

AGE AND PLACE OF BIRTH OF THE INTERVIEWEE:
75 years, born in as-Suuki 
DATES AND PLACE OF THE INTERVIEWS:
June 13, 2011, and January 2, 2013; as-Suuki

JUNE 13, 2011 

Q: Uncle Umar,1 I want 
you to tell us about your life 
history and your contribu-
tion to the development of 
as-Suuki town or the (as-
Suuki) area in general. Take 
your time and say whatever 
you want!

UMAR
I was born in as-Suuki and 
grew up here. Our father 
was from the Fallaata Soko-
to (i.e., a Fulani from the 
Sokoto subsection) and our 
mother from the ilee aab 
( lei aab/Borgo, a branch 
of the Maba tribe). Our fa-
ther was active in teaching 
the Qur’an and Islamic sci-
ences. He started from Wau 
(in present-day South Su-
dan), from where he moved 
to Southern Kordofan (the 

Ta-
loodi and then Abbaasiyya 
Tagale. He stayed for some 
time in Abbaasiyya Tagale,  

1   The term ‘uncle’ is here used as a term of respect.
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run the court. In fact, even 
Shaikh Fa ul (i.e., Shaikh 
Fa ul an-Naayir) – may the 
Almighty Allah have mercy 
upon him – is remembered 
by all people in that he used 
to solve any problem; this 
man had a very good contri-
bution in this. Any problem 
that happened in al-Baza a 
or al-Marbuu  (quarters), 
he used to solve it. If  Shaikh 
Ab-Na oof had a problem, 
he would seek the assis-
tance of Shaikh Fa ul for 
its solution. They used to 
travel to very many rural 
areas (villages) to solve 
problems. If any Governor 
General ( akim Aam) or 
province commis sioner or 
anyone (else) was coming, 
they (probably the Makk, 
the Omda and  Shaikh 
Fa ul) would always be 
moving around with him, 

security in the area and that 
the area was in need of so-
and-so.
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Jangoor (a non-Fallaata, i.e., 
non- Fulani).

Q: This means that the Funj 
took back their Omodiyya. 
What happened then  
to the (Fallaata/Fulani) 
Omodiyya?

The Fallaata Omodiyya 
was dissolved because of 
problems among the rela-
tives (Fallaata, i.e., Fulani) 
themselves; this one want-
ed to be sheikh; that one 
wanted to be Omda. In this 
way, it ‘fell apart’ (itfarta-
gat). After that, our (pater-
nal) uncle Abdu s-Salaam 
left the sheikhdom itself 
because of this problem. 
They brought our (paternal) 
uncle Shaikh Fa ul an-
Naayir, my direct paternal 
uncle, my father’s brother. 

1946 until he died in 1997. 

Q: Who is assuming the 
function (of sheikh) now?

At present, it is in the hands 
of an-Naayir Yuusif, a son 
of Shaikh Fa ul an- 
Naayir’s brother. Now he is 
the sheikh of the entire 
town of as-Suuki, including 
the area of ad-Dariisa and 
al-Marbuu  (quarters). Also, 
he is a companion to the 
Makk and the Omda; i.e., 
they are always together in 
the court; the three of them    

Interview: Members of the Zarruugaab Clan of Fallaata (Fulani)
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here. But Sudan essentially 
belongs to us and not to 
 anybody else. Now I have a 
copy of a pedigree, which 
goes back to Abdullaahi 
ibn al- Abbaas (a  paternal 
cousin of the Prophet).

Q: Do you remember the 
names of some of the 
 Fallaata (Fulani) sheikhs?

Yes, they brought Shaikh 
Ibraahiim Saalim (as 
sheikh); when he died 
Abdu s-Salaam Wad-
Abdalla took over. These 
(two sheikhs) were closely 
tied to the Makk15 and  
the Funj in the area. There 
was also an  Omodiyya 
( Umuudiyya).16

Q: Is there an Omodiyya 
here (in as-Suuki) for the 
Fallaata (i.e., Fulani)?

asan 
an-Nakhli; he was the 
Omda of all the Fallaata 
(i.e., Fulani) from Shaikh 

al a (village) up to as- 
Suuki. asan an-Nakhli 
was succeeded by amooda 
Abbakar Toorsheen. After 

amooda came Ibraahiim 
Ma muud. Afterwards, the 
Omodiyya was shifted to  

15   ‘Makk’ refers here to the paramount chief of the Funj. 
16   The Omodiyya corresponds to the second highest administrative unit within the Native 

Administration system introduced by the British.The title held by the head of an Omodiyya is 
‘Omda’.
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Abu- Ajaaj (ca. 7 km west 
of as-Suuki) and settled 
with them. We13 were born 
in Abu- Ajaaj, near al-
Busaa a (village). From 
there people dispersed. 
When they came to as- 
Suuki, their settlement 

Bel-
lo ad-Daadaari came and 
said to them:14 “Brothers, I 
will stay here with you; you 
construct thirteen houses 
and slaughter a bull for 
alms; by doing this, your 
village will be ‘the mother 
of the settlements’ (umm al- 
balad).” They constructed 
thirteen houses and invited 
the people of illat Wad 
Naa ir, Birgid, Ab-Na oof, 

aniin, al-Ghudiyyaat, and 
al-Baza a (quarters); they 
all ate the (meat of the) bull 
and dispersed. Thanks to 
Bello ad-Daadaari’s direc-
tives, the quarter remained 
settled until today. We were 
all born and raised here and 
are still staying here… Even 
when the train came (for the 

lay down (out of fear); we 
were children. However, 
with regard to our people of 
Omdurman, some of them 
went back (to western 
 Sudan) and others came  

 

13   
the group of men participating in the interview.

14   By that time, Bello ad-Daadaari and many members of other big Fulani families engaged in 
the Mahdiyya movement (e.g., Usman Baara, Qadi Abu- awwa, aamid al-Fay , Abbakar 
Atiiku, Ali Tunfaafe, etc.) were already settled in 
loss of the Karari battle in 1898, and more popularly, after the Mahdiyya had ‘spoilt’ (khirbat). 

Interview: Members of the Zarruugaab Clan of Fallaata (Fulani)
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to the Khaliifa of the Mahdi. 
The Khaliifa read the letter 
and said to them: “All the 
people you brought, I ‘poled’ 
(sha abta) some and some 
died, but this style is not 
Bello’s. This man (i.e., Bel-
lo) is ajami (non-native 
Arabic speaker) and he 
knows neither (the term) 
 istibdaad (tyranny) nor (the 
term) faw a (disorder); I 
have  forgiven him.”12

Once Bello ad-Daadaari 
had been forgiven and the 
Mahdiyya ‘spoilt’ (khirbat), 
the Khaliifa of the Mahdi 
instructed people to go and 
seek their relatives. Then all 
our people left Omdurman 
(for the Sennar area), in-
cluding this aaj a - ayyib, 
our grandfather who was 
amiir (leader); he went (to 
jihad) with a hundred peo-
ple and came back with 
only three. When he came 
to Shaikh al a (village), 
he was also brought to (the 
villages of) Zain al-
Aabdiin and Wad Haaruun 
(and invited to live there). 
They (our grandfather and 
some of his relatives) stayed 
there (i.e., in Wad Haaruun) 

– for some time – and then 
dispersed due to some prob-
lems. Shaikh a - ayyib 
Wad-Saalim joined them in  

aaj

 

 

 
12   Bello Abbakar Atiiku, who told me the same story (see footnote 6), added that the Fulani 

dignitaries in the Khaliifa’s administration – and they were very numerous – had decided to 
react, if Bello had been killed or ‘poled’.
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(Shaikh) Mu ammad 
Toom.”9 Bello ad-Daadaari 
came to  Shaikh al a (vil-
lage) and said to Shaikh 
Mu ammad Toom: “We 
were instructed to bring 
you; you, son of al a, by 

‘poled’ (musha ab – i.e., 
tied to a pole whose upper 
part is in the shape of V).”10 
 Shaikh Mu ammad Toom 
went to Omdurman with an 
escort of 15 boats. The 
Khaliifa of the Mahdi (i.e., 
Khaliifa Abdullaahi) met 
them in Soba. He said to 
them: “Since the son of 

al a has come, let him go 
back with his boats; let them 
(the boats) be loaded with 
ghee, dates and other things 
for his masiid (Qur’anic 
school); let him go back 
home.” Seeing this,11 some 
(of Bello ad-Daadaari’s) 
colleagues in the Mahdiyya 
decided to create problems 
(to Bello). They wrote a let-
ter in the name of Bello: 

“Come, so-and-so Pasha, 
and rescue us from the Bag-
gara, the disorder (
and tyranny (istibdaad).” 
And they brought the letter  

9   Khaliifa Abdullaahi called upon all tribal leaders and 
dignitaries to come to Omdurman and join the jihad. Those who did not respond willingly 
were brought by force (and punished).

10   ‘Poling’ (sha abta) is one of the worst deeds characterizing the reign of Khaliifa Abdullaahi. 
It is the act whereby those tribal leaders and dignitaries who refused to respond willingly to 
Khaliifa’s call were punished by being tied to a pole for many days for humiliation.

11   ‘Seeing this’ refers to the fact that Mu ammad Toom, the ‘relative’ (i.e., ethnic fellow) of 
Bello ad-Daadaari, was not ‘poled’ like the other dignitaries from other tribes who were brought 
by force.

Interview: Members of the Zarruugaab Clan of Fallaata (Fulani)
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said to him: “May Allah 
bless you (Allah yibaarik 

)! The tuggaaba is your 
sole occupation; do not go 
to jihad or do anything 
else.” People from the 
surrounding villages such 
as Kassaab moved to 
Shaikh al a in fear of 
jihad. And then Shaikh 
Mu ammad Toom sent 
emissaries to all his people, 
his relatives from western 
Sudan living in Omdurman 
(inviting them to come and 
stay in 
[village]).

Q: What do you mean here 
with ‘his relatives’? The 
 Fallaata (Fulani)?

(Yes), his relatives, the Fal-
laata.7 Those people were 
from western Sudan. They 
all came to Omdurman, 
fought (with the Mahdi) 
and stayed in Omdurman. 
And then some (unpleasant) 
things happened in the 
Mahdiyya and they started 
catching people: “Catch 
Wad al-Hindi, catch so-and-
so, catch so-and-so.” They 
(Khaliifa Abdullaahi and 
his entourage) sent Bello 
ad-Daadaari8 (and said to 
him): “Go and bring    
7   ‘Relatives’ refers in this context simply to ethnic fellows, i.e., Fulani in general.
8   Bello was the son of Mu ammad ad-Daadaari, a ‘wise man’ of the movement, highly respected 

by the Abdullaahi as successor of the 
Mahdi. For more information on Mu ammad ad-Daadaari and the role he played in cutting 

Mahdi, see Hunwick et al. (1997).
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hand you will come across 
the school, the Health 

staying in this area. When 

(as the result of the reser-

they moved to this upper 
area. That was the year 
when the grave of our 
grandfather,4 Shaikh Wad-
H , was dug out (to 
rebury his remains in 
 another location).5

Q: Is there anyone who 
wants to add something?

MU AFA 
When the Mahdiyya was 
about to start, the Mahdi, 
on his tour, came (to Shaikh 

al a [village]). When he 
came, Shaikh Mu ammad 
Toom (son of 
extinguished the tuggaaba 

and reciting the Qur’an dur-
ing the night). The Mahdi 
asked him: “Why did you 
extinguish it?” He an-
swered: “No one is to light 
it but you.”6 The Mahdi    
4   The term ‘grandfather’ is here used as a term of respect.
5   Shaikh Wad-Haashim was buried in the old graveyard of Shaikh al a (village). In 1951, part  

 sheikhs of Shaikh al a saw Shaikh 
Wad-Haashim in a dream requesting the removal of his body. When the body was exhumed, it  
was found intact, though he had died ca. 47 years before, which was explained by his being a saint 
(wali). So, the exhumation of Shaikh Wad-Haashim’s body constitutes an important event in  
the social history of the area.

6   The same story was told by Bello Abbakar Atiiku (74 years, follower of the Mahdi living in 
Shaikh al a, interviewed in Maiurno on June 12, 1996). He added that Shaikh Mu ammad 
Toom wanted the Mahdi to light the tuggaaba because the one he (i.e., the Mahdi) lights  
will never extinguish.

Interview: Members of the Zarruugaab Clan of Fallaata (Fulani)
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Our relatives were in this 
al-Masaalma3 of the 
 Mahdiyya. They fought in 
the jihad; they struggled for 
the cause of the Mahdiyya 
and had many martyrs, 
 including many whose 
deeds found their way into 
his torical records. Our peo-
ple arrived in this area 
(Sennar area) in 1899, im-
mediately after the Karari 
battle (1898). In the begin-
ning, they came to Shaikh 

 (village). What 
brought them there was that 
they had livestock and the 
climate of this area helped 
in hosting them and their 
livestock. So, they came 
and settled in this area and 
became both cattle keepers 
and farmers. They spread; 
some of them crossed to the 
western side of the Blue 
Nile to the areas of Su aad, 
ar-Rihee a and Khoor al-
Booj and then came back to 
Shaikh al a (village) and 
then to Zain al- Aabdiin 
(village). These people 
came back and stayed in 
Zain al- Aabdiin until the 
work on (the construction 
of the) Sennar Dam started; 
when the work on Sennar 
Dam started, our people 
came (to as-Suuki). They 
came to as-Suuki in 1912. 
At that time as-Suuki was 
very small. On your way to 
the market, on your right  

 

 

1899

1912

3   This is a ward (quarter) in Omdurman, now predominantly inhabited by (Sudanese) Copts.
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Daar Maali, near a place 
called Jabal Um Ali.1 He 
came to that area (in the Su-
dan). The place is called 

‘Daar Maali’ because he 
(our forefather) originates 
from Mali.2 On his way 
back (from ijaaz), he set-
tled in Daar Maali and even 
got married there. The peo-
ple saw in him piety and 
righteousness and that he 
taught (Islamic)  sciences, 
therefore… There was an 
engineer called A mad 
Abdalla who was working 
with us in al-Fao; he was 
from the area of Daar Maali. 

met who gave me informa-
tion about the Fallaata (Fu-
lani) in that area. This was 
in the beginning of 1970s. I 
am Mu ammad al-Mahdi 
A mad an-Naayir Yuusif 

 Zarruug Umar; this Umar 
(in my name) is Umar 
 al-Fallaati.

Q: What circumstances 
brought your people to this 
area?

1   In fact, Daar Maali is not near Shendi, but is located ca. 3 km north of 
north of Khartoum) in River Nile State. 

2   Archeologists at the University of Khartoum believe that the village of Daar Maali derives  
its name from the fact that it was historically a stopping place for Malian pilgrims going  
to or coming back from Mecca or Medina. This belief is largely shared by inhabitants of 
Daar Maali. However, there may be no contradiction between the explanation provided by 
the archeologists and local inhabitants about the origin of the name ‘Daar Maali’ and the 
explanation given above by Mu ammad al-Mahdi; the Malian pilgrims might have chosen  
Daar Maali as their resting station on their way to and back from pilgrimage because their 
‘relatives’ (i.e., Umar al-Fallaati’s family) constituted the majority of its population.
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INTERVIEW WITH MEMBERS OF  
THE ZARRUUGAAB CLAN OF FULANI  

LIVING IN AS-SUUKI
NAME, AGE AND PLACE OF BIRTH OF THE INTERVIEWEES:
 Mu ammad Baabikir Sa iid, 70 years, born in as-Suuki
 Mu ammad al-Mahdi A mad an-Naayir, 57 years, born in as-Suuki
 Musaa  Bakhiit Ya guub, 62 years, born in as-Suuki
 Mu afa Ya bu- Ajaaj
DATE AND PLACE OF THE INTERVIEW: 
June 12, 2011; as-Suuki (house of Umar Mu ammad Qudus Abdullaahi)

Q: You have said that you 
are Fallaata (Fulani); do 
you all know to which clan 
you belong? Because the 
Fallaata, of course, have 
different clans.

MU AMMAD BAABIKIR 
I am a Zarruugaabi (from 
the Zarruugaab clan), Juba 
branch (of this Fulani clan). 

‘Zarruugaab’ refers to 
children of Zarruug; this 
Zarruug was the son of 
Umar al-Fallaati and (that) 
Umar was buried in ar-
Rookab near El Obeid (

fan). He had twelve 
sons, including Zarruug.

MU AMMAD AL-MAHDI 
Of course, our forefather, 
Umar (al-Fallaati), started 
to head for ijaaz (Holy 
Land in Saudi Arabia) in 
his adulthood. (On his way 
there), he came to a place 
near Shendi now called   

 
 





Photo 6: Shaikh Suleimaan A mad asanein (right), grandson of as-Suuki founder, interviewed in 
his house in as-Suuki   (MU AB M. UMAR QUDUS, 2011)
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him to stay, or did he stay 
and they did not ask him?

They (the Funj) came to 
him (my grandfather) and 
asked him: “Why do you 
develop (a settlement in) 
this place?” He said to 
them: “I just want to 
develop it.” They said to 
him: “Well, go ahead. You 
are one of the men whom 
we want to develop this 
land. You stayed under this 
tree like this with the 
intention to open this land, 
(go ahead and) open it.”
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by little the place became a 
village. In the end, the river 
pressed on them and they 
moved further and this 
place of theirs (to which 
they had moved) became a 
village (i.e., a quarter). My 
grandfather told me that he 
gave one of the stout young-
sters a piece of paper with 
writing. He said to him: 

“Hold this piece of paper 
and run as fast and diligent-
ly as you can; cross this 
bush running until you get 
very tired. In the place 
where you get very tired, 
dig a hole and bury this 
piece of paper. The village, 
by the will of Allah, will 
(expand and) reach there.” 
(When the youngster came 
back, my grandfather asked 
him:) “Have you buried it 
(the piece of paper), boy?” 
The youngster replied: 

“Yes.” Now the village has 
expanded even beyond that 
place. My grandfather oc-

after his death my father oc-
cupied it and after my 
 father’s death I occupied it.

Q: Well, Uncle asanein, 
what is known is that the 
land from iid (Southern 
Blue Nile) up to here (tradi-
tionally) belonged to the 
Funj. When your grandfa-
ther came and settled here, 
did he seek permission from 
these Funj, or did they  
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brought their huts, their 
tents and their other be-
longings. He (i.e., my 
grandfather) proceeded fur-
ther (with his people). They 
cleared the land, construct-
ed houses and stayed in 
them. This was until the 
train came and the railway 
station established; the vil-
lage expanded and became 
a town. Then Ab-Na oof 
came – the sheikh of the 
quarter that lies on this side 
[Suleimaan points to the 
side concerned]. He came 
and stayed with our grand-
father for three days. This 
Ab-Na oof was said to be 
from the Ja liyyiin (tribe). 
He said to our grandfather: 

“I, too, want to develop a 
settlement in this place like 
you.” He (my grandfather) 
replied: “Well.” They went 
out in the late afternoon and 
(my grandfather) asked 
him: “Do you see that lower 
area (ab a )?” Now the 
pumps are in this area. He 
gave him this place and 
said to him: “Build (your 
settlement) there.” 

Q: So, your grandfather 
gave him (i.e., Ab-Na oof) 
this place!

(Yes), he gave him this 
place and said to him: 

“Build (your settlement) 
there.” His relatives joined 
him (Ab-Na oof) and little    
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“You, man!” He (i.e., my 
grandfather) said to them: 

“By Allah, I came here; I 
will neither proceed ahead 
nor go back; I will develop 
(a settlement in) this place.” 
So, they started to clear 
(parts of the bush) and build 
(shelters), to clear and 
build; his brothers stayed 
with him. After a period of 
time, they constructed 
houses from grass and 
stayed on board of the river. 
This was so until people in-
creased and expanded. 
They established farms and 
remained staying… They 
(my grandfather’s brothers) 
said to my grandfather: 

“ asanein, this place is 
lonely; why don’t you 
leave?” He replied: “I am 
not leaving; I will establish 
a village in this place and 
settle in this village.” Later 
on, the other tribes came 
and the place became a vil-
lage. At that time we were 
not born. After that came 
the railway. The village be-
came big. When the railway 
came, our grandfather said 
to them (i.e., the railway 
people): “Since you have 
come to develop this area, 
we will release our place 
for you; we are going to 
clear (the bush) further.” So, 
they released the cleared 
place for them (the railway 
people) and started clearing 
further. The railway people   
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He stayed under a tree, after 
which as-Suuki itself was 
named. He stayed under 
this tree hunting (wild) ani-
mals. He made a kind of 
shade on that tree and a lad-
der to climb on it. During 
the day he used to get down 
for hunting and at night he 
climbed back (on the tree) 
to sleep, because of the 
wild animals. He spent a 
long time like this (in the 
bush). His brothers there 
enquired about him. There 
was a group of people who 
came from the direction of 
Singa; at that time people 
had to be as many as ten in 
order to pass through this 
area and had to be armed; 
two people would not be 
able to pass through (be-
cause of the wild animals). 
My grandfather stayed for a 
long time (in the bush). His 
brothers looked for him but 

of people coming from the 
direction of Singa across 
that tree told them (i.e., my 
grandfather’s brothers): 

“We, by Allah, saw a person 
sitting alone under a tree. 
We saw him sitting while 
we were going and saw him 
sitting while we were re-
turning.” They (the broth-
ers) crossed by boats and 
came walking towards the 
tree until they saw a person 
sitting under it. They  slowly 
approached (that person):  
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Q: How did you inherit this 
shayaakha)?

I inherited it from our 
grandfather asanein. Of 
course, he came from east-
ern Sudan. When he learned 
that the Mahdi appeared, he 
immediately went to El 
Obeid ( ). The 
Mahdiyya Revolution start-
ed and people (Fulani) got 
involved in it. They fought 
with the Mahdi. The Mahdi 
spent his time in ruling. Af-
ter the end of the Mahdiyya, 
the elderly people said: 

“The Mahdiyya has come to 
an end; there is no need (to 
stay in Omdurman) any-
more.” They dispersed. Our 
grandfather came in this di-
rection. At that time there 
was no dam (bridge); he 
crossed (the Blue Nile) by 
boat to this area. The area 
was covered with trees; it 
was a jungle. This grandfa-
ther of ours was a faki 
(learned person/endowed 
with  supernatural powers). 

“

”

Q: From which tribe is/was 
this grandfather of yours?

He was from the Fallaata 
Um Jabbo (i.e., a Fulani of 
the Um Jabbo clan).3 He 
found this place as a jungle 

– with lions, leopards and 
elephants, and so on. All 
these animals were there.    
3   The name of this clan is also often pronounced ‘Um Jibbo’ locally.
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INTERVIEW:  
SULEIMAAN A MAD ASANEIN

FULANI OF THE UM JABBO CLAN

AGE AND PLACE OF BIRTH OF THE INTERVIEWEE: 
77 years, born in as-Suuki
DATE AND PLACE OF THE INTERVIEW: 
June 13, 2011; as-Suuki

Q: Uncle Suleimaan,1 we 
learned that you are a 

are you the sheikh?

SULEIMAAN
asanein Quarter; the quar-

ter is named after my grand-
father. It starts from the 
 railway (and extends) east-
wards up to the canal of 
Shaasheena (cotton) 
scheme and north up to ad-
Dariisa (Quarter) and I am 
its sheikh. 

Q: Well, Uncle asanein, 
do you know how many 
families approximately are 

number of people or the 
 number of houses?

By Allah, the families are 
numerous in as-Suuki; they 
can make up (all together) a 
little more than a million 
(of people).2

1   The term ‘uncle’ is here used as a term of respect.
2   The informant did not seem to be familiar with numbers. The total number of inhabitants in as-

Suuki is estimated at 40,000–45,000 people; those of asanein Quarter may not exceed 15,000.





Photo 4:  Nooba (drumming) ceremony on the day of Iid al-Kabiir in the yard of the Central 
Mosque, September 15, 2013, Wad Haashim (AL-AMIN ABU-MANGA, 2013)

Photo 5: Shaikh Kaamil A.M. Abu-Kuuma (right), the heir of Shaikh Wad-Haashim’s sijjaada 
(praying mat), escorting the researcher out from the yard of the Central Mosque on the day of Iid 
al-Kabiir, September 15, 2013, Wad Haashim  (SAMI AL-AMIN ABU-MANGA, 2013)
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Photo 2: In the middle, Shaikh Kaamil A.M. Abu-Kuuma, the heir of Shaikh Wad-Haashim’s 
sijjaada (praying mat), leading the nooba (drumming) procession on the day of Iid al-Kabiir, 
September 15, 2013, Wad Haashim   (SAMI AL-AMIN ABU-MANGA, 2013)

Photo 3: The Central Mosque in Wad Haashim  (AL-AMIN ABU-MANGA, 2013)

22Interview: Kaamil 



Photo 1: 
Haashim’s tuggaaba nooba (drumming) 
procession starts from here and marches to the Central Mosque, where it is actually performed on 
the day of Iid al-Kabiir, September 15, 2013, Wad Haashim  (SAMI AL-AMIN ABU-MANGA, 2013)
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a communist?” I answered: 
“Yes, my master, I am com-
munist and active in the 
Communist Party.” He said 
(to my father): “You, 
Abdulra maan, for the sake 
of Allah, do not ask this boy 
(to stop); let him go ahead 
with his communism; by 
the Almighty Allah, he will 
come back to the fence.” 
By Allah, Shaikh Al-Amin, 
from there (Reiba) I took 
the bus back to Khartoum 
and my father went back to 

-
cult situation with my fa-
ther) lasted until 2002, then 
I discovered that… One 
does not regret one’s past 
and life, but I discovered 
that I had wasted a precious 
part of my life for nothing. I 
thus came back to the right 
path, thank to Allah. I re-
pented in the lifetime of my 
father and gained his 
 acceptance.

H

Interview: Kaamil 
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insisted to take me early in 
the morning to our father,11 
Shaikh Mu ammad Toom 
Wad Baannaga (also more 
simply known as Shaikh at-
Toom Wad Baannaga) in 
Reiba. We went there and 
found him sitting on his 
mat. (He asked:) “ aaj 
Abdulra maan, what 
brings you today so early in 
the morning?” We sat 
down; he gave us water; I 
drank but aaj Abdul-
ra maan (my father) did 
not drink. He ( Abdul-
ra maan) said to Shaikh 
Mu ammad Toom Wad 
Baannaga: “By Allah, I 
have come to you with a 
problem; I will not drink 
this water until you solve 
this problem for me.” He 
 (Shaikh Mu ammad Toom 
Wad Baannaga) said to him: 

“You, Shaikh Abdul-
ra maan, how does it come 
that you bring a problem for 
solution although you your-
self solve problems (as a 
sheikh)? What is the prob-
lem?” He (my father) re-
plied: “By Allah, this 
Kaamil has become a com-
munist; he has followed the 
communists and became an 
atheist.” He continued say-
ing many things. Shaikh 
Mu ammad Toom Wad 
Baannaga let him talk until 

me: “You, Kaamil, are you   

11   Here too, the term ‘father’ is used as a term of respect.
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thanks to our father,10 
(Shaikh) Wad-Haashim. He 
educated the people and in-
culcated in them the spirit 
of community. He did not 
give anybody the feeling of 
being outside this commu-
nity. Now I have succeeded 
(my father) as sheikh (of 
Wad-Haashim’s ‘mat’) and 
I am going to bear the task 
up to the end by Allah’s 
will.
By Allah, if I tell you (my 

story), Professor Al-Amin, 
you will not believe (it). It 
is true that I grew up in ‘the 
house of religion’ (bayt ad-
diin – a religious family). In 
this house, I used to have 
the (following) feeling 
since I was a child: why do 
people come, take out their 
shoes and kiss (the hand of 
the sheikh in greeting)? In 
fact, I was against this mat-
ter, believing that all people 
are equal. This had a great 
effect on me and made me 
break away from the family 
and join a leftist organisa-
tion. For 31 years, I was an 
active member of the Com-
munist Party and a leading 
cadre at the level of the 
Central Committee. I was 
subjected to arrest and de-
tention; of course, this hap-
pens frequently in trade 
 unions and social works. 
One day, when released 
from detention, my father  

H

  
10   Same remark regarding the use of the term ‘father’ as in footnote 1, 6 and 9.

Interview: Kaamil 
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Q: How is the coexistence 
with other tribes? Have you 
ever felt that there are tribal 
differences? 

No, never. Now, the tribes I 
have mentioned, if you look 
at the (families making up 
their) stems and branches, 

nobody who does not have 
(blood) relation with these 
families, either directly or 
indirectly. For example, the 
son of one of Kaamil’s 
brothers (a man from the 
Dongolese tribe) is married 
to a daughter of my paternal 
uncle (a Fallaati, i.e., a Fu-
lani woman). So, the (con-
sanguineous) ties between 
members of different tribes 
are very numerous; you 
cannot (clearly) distinguish 
(one tribe from another). 

Q: The (positive) character-
istic of these villages that 
emerge based on a  tuggaaba 
(a communal place for 
learning and reciting the 
Qur’an) is that they consti-
tute a (socially) homoge-
nous, harmonious and ideal 
community. Had such com-
munities got the chance (to 
more largely develop), they 
would have saved us from 
many things (social 
 problems).

KAAMIL 
This Wad Haashim is a 
unique village indeed  

H
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“From Teego.” They (then) 
would call him ‘Wad Teego’ 
(son of Teego). Our father,9 
the Sheikh (Shaikh Wad-
Haashim), used to call peo-
ple after the area they came 
from. So, if you gather to-
gether Wad Um Dam, Wad 
Teego, Wad so-and-so and 

that they are the people who 
constitute the tribes living 
in Wad Haashim  today.

H

Q: Do you know which 
tribes are now living in 
Wad Haashim?

The Fallaata (i.e., the Fula-
ni) may constitute the larg-
est tribe (in Wad Haashim); 
these are our families, in-
cluding the Shaikh Idris’s, 

The rest (notably) compris-
es the Danaagla; their 
grandfather was Shaikh 
Abu-Kuuma; they consti-
tute a big family. There are 
also Musabba aat; they are 
also a big family; this fam-
ily includes the Mu ammad 
A mad  Khaalids and the 
Muusa al- Ajabs. There are 
Jawaam a and Ja liyyiin; 
they each constitute a group 
but not as large as the other 
groups that I have already 
 mentioned.

 …

9   Here too, the term ‘father’ is used as a term of respect. 

Interview: Kaamil 
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 grandfather’s brother): 
“You go to the area of Um 
Ruwaaba (in Kordofan).” 
When coming with his trade 
to this area of the Fallaata, 
my grandfather already 
used to hear about these 

aaj a - aahirs.8 He went 
(there) and got acquainted 
with Shaikh Wad-Haashim 
and took permission from 
him to conduct the (new) 
trading activities, in which 
he wanted to engage. He 
immediately opened a shop 
in al-Fitee  and kept work-

shop in al-Fitee .

H

Q: Balla, you previously 
said that various tribes had 
heard about Shaikh Wad-
Haashim and started to 
come to him. Do you know 
from where these tribes 
came?

BALLA 
According to what we heard, 
the (members of these) 
tribes (living in Wad 
Haashim) came as individ-
uals and not in groups. A 
person comes carrying his 

stays. People ask: “From 
where is he coming?” (This 
man may reply:) “From 
Um Dam.” They (then) 
would call him ‘Wad Um 
Dam’ (son of Um Dam). 
(Another man may reply:)  

“
”

 

8   aaj a - aahir was the paternal uncle of Shaikh Wad-Haashim.
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(also simply known as 
Shaikh Wad-Haashim). Al-

-
other site. Its inhabitants 
were a group of people who 
were early drawn together 
(attracted) by agriculture. 
According to my knowl-
edge, even when my family 
came from northern Sudan, 
it found our father, (Shaikh) 
Wad-Haashim, here. I can-
not tell the date (of his 
 arrival). 

H

 

Q: Kaamil, now your house 
(family) is, of course, the 
one that succeeded our fa-
ther, the Sheikh (Shaikh 
Wad-Haashim).7 Please, 
tell us about the relation 
that developed between 
your grandfather and 
 Shaikh Wad-Haashim. How 
did your grandfather arrive 
to this area?

Our grandfather was a trad-
er on boats. When they (my 
grandfather and his brother) 
heard that the Mahdi had 
entered (captured) Khar-
toum, they moved from 
Dongola (Northern State) 
and joined him. After they 
had stayed with the Mahdi 
for a while, the Mahdi said 
to our grandfather: “You, 
Abu-Kuuma, you go to the 
area of the Fallaata (Sennar 
area) and settle there.” He 
said to Naa ir (my    
7   Same remark regarding the use of the term ‘father’ as in footnote 1 and 6.

Interview: Kaamil 
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the extent that he lived on 
the milk of gazelles. Even 
when people came to hunt 
them, he used to prevent 
them from doing so. This 
was until his leg was (seri-
ously injured and) dam-
aged. After that, he returned, 
met with 
Wad Baannaga, and the 

 was convened, after 
which he took the Sam-
maniyya brotherhood (got 
initiated into that brother-
hood). After that, he started 
moving gradually from the 
area of 
Direebu, ar-Raayaat5 until 
he reached Old Wad 
Haashim on the (western) 
bank of the river (Blue 
Nile) and settled down 
there. Immediately, people 
gathered around him.

Q: We want you to tell us 
about the oldest history of 
Wad Haashim village, ac-
cording to what you have 
heard from the elders.

This Wad Haashim (vil-
lage) was formerly called 

‘
was called ‘Kuush’ or 

 ‘Kaboosh’. Its name was 
changed into ‘Wad 
Haashim’ after the man 
who founded it, i.e., our fa-
ther,6 by Allah, Shaikh 

   
5   These are villages in the area of Singa.
6   Here too, the term ‘father’ is used as a term of respect. 
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Maybe aaj a - aahir was 
the main factor (reason) for 
his (i.e., Shaikh Wad-
Haashim’s) coming to this 
area. He came and settled 
down in the area of Sennar 
at-Tagaa u . His father, 
Yuusif, was buried in the 
old graveyard of Sennar at-
Tagaa u . This (Sennar at-
Tagaa u was the place 
from where he (Shaikh 
Wad-Haashim) established 
contact with the people of 
Shaikh at-Toom Wad Baan-
naga, i.e., the people of al-
Azaaza and Reiba,3 and 
contact with the people of 
Shaikh Hajo. It was at that 
phase (of his life) that he 
was invited to get initiated 
into the 
brotherhood. He said to 
Shaikh a -Toom Wad Baan-
naga: “I will not join (this 
brotherhood) until you con-
vene a big  (circle of 
zikr4 that gathers quite a 
large number of people; 
then I will get initiated.” He 
(Shaikh Wad-Haashim) 
then immediately went out 
for ‘wandering’ (siyaa a) 
in the Funj area (and wan-
dered) for a long time, liv-
ing in the bush among the 
wild animals. The animals 
got accustomed to him to  

 

H

H

H

 

 

3

Sennar town.
4   Zirk is brotherhood 

and performed by its adherents usually in a circle ( ). In brotherhoods, the 
performance involves drumming and dancing while reciting religious poems in praise of the 
Prophet (Mu ammad) or the founder of the brotherhood or its current sheikh. 
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INTERVIEW: KAAMIL ABDULRA MAAN 

DONGOLESE

AGE AND PLACE OF BIRTH OF THE INTERVIEWEE:
56 years, born in Wad Haashim
DATE AND PLACE OF THE INTERVIEW:
July 6, 2012; Omdurman
IN THE PRESENCE OF: 
Balla a - aahir Mu ammad Saalim, 62 years, born in Wad Haashim, Fulani

Q: According to what you 
have heard, what is Shaikh 
Wad-Haashim’s birth date 
and where (was he born)?

KAAMIL
Our father,1 (Shaikh) Wad-
Haashim, was born in 19052 
in the area of al-Masallami-
yya (in the Gezira). He was 
nicknamed ‘a -Toor a -

aali ’ (‘the lame bull’) –  
because his leg was dam-
aged; ‘Abu-Gabreen’ (‘the 
man with two graves’) –  
because his body was ex-
humed (and moved to an-
other grave); and ‘Raa i 
a - eed’ (‘shepherd of 
huntable animals’) –  be-
cause he used to live among 
the gazelles and to prevent 
hunters from hunting them 
during the period he spent 

‘wandering’ in the bush.  

H

  
1   The term ‘father’ is here used as a term of respect. Such an usage is frequent in reference to a 

 sheikh/saint regarded as one’s spiritual master.
2   This date is quite wrong because Shaikh Wad-Haashim

ca. 1953, 47 years after his death, which means that he died in 1906. The informant might have 
confused the date of his death with his birth date.
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11   

West Africa. All this is there 
in books.11



8

(subordinates), the Egyp-
tians, participated for a cer-
tain period of time. Even 
the communists joined in 
this campaign which took 
up the issue of religion; 
(but) it is a praiseworthy 
thing for someone (a Fula-
ni) to observe his religious 
obligations and the Islamic 
jurisprudence ( ). So 
these political parties (i.e., 
the Democratic Unionist 
Party and the Communist 
Party) heightened the 
blameworthy aspects and 
tried to attribute any blame-

tribe (i.e., to the Fulani). I 
can come back (to my 
 previous discussion). In the 
studies that appeared re-
cently, it is said that all 
these ‘praying mats’ (sij-
jaadaat
were established by Fallaa-
ta (Fulani). They (the Fula-

settled. They did not care 
about their (ethnic) origin 
and thus about the preser-
vation of their (ancestral) 
language; instead, they 
merged into the (local) big 
families. These are studies, 
which exist; some academ-
ics might have written 
about it. They (the ‘praying 
mats’) started from 
 northern Sudan (extending 
southwards); all these 
tombs are of people   
who originate from  
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himself belonged to this 
family.9 He was born here 
in the Sudan and had two 
grandfathers (i.e., a great 
grandfather and a 
 grandfather) born here in 
the Sudan.

Q: Why do some people 
choose to take another 
(ethnic) identity?

As for the Fallaata (i.e., the 
Fulani), they were the as-
sets of the Mahdiyya Revo-
lution. The Unionists (i.e., 
the Democratic Unionist 
Party) acknowledged this.10 

These people (Fulani) occu-
pied high positions in the 
Mahdiyya; they occupied 
positions allowing them to 
acquire land; they might 
have dominated the econo-
my and agriculture as they 
used to settle and concen-
trate near the water (i.e., the 
Blue Nile). This is quite 
known. So, they (i.e., lead-
ers of the Democratic 
 Unionist Party) resorted to 

‘sarcasm’ (sukhriya) in or-
der to sidetrack them (the 
Fulani) and make them feel 
inferior. This was during a 
campaign in which the 
 Unionists and their ‘tails’    
9   According to informants from Wad Haashim village, this acknowledgement was once made 

ooliyya of Shaikh Wad-Haashim (2006). In the subsequent ooliyyas, 
the organizers avoided referring to his ethnic origin, regarding him as ‘father’ of all the 

10   This political party, which is a rival of the Umma Party (largely supported by Fulani people), 
was found in 1967 as a merger of the National Unionist Party and the People’s Democratic 
Party.
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Sennar area). Given that 
aaj a - aahir was born 

around 1700,8 this means 
that his father and 
grandfather had been here 
since the beginning of 
history (since the 
establishment of the Funj 
Sultanate?). They met with 
the Shaikh al as (i.e., 
Shaikh al a and his 
 brothers); they (i.e., the 
members of Shaikh al a’s 
family) claim that they 
were coming from northern 
Sudan, from Dongola 
(Northern State) – of course, 
this is their opinion – and 
we were coming from the 
west, from Andalusia and 
the Maghreb (North Africa). 
This (latter) group was the 
one that was engaged in 
religious (Islamic) 
education in the Funj area – 
the family of our 
grandfathers (belonged to 
that group). This aaj a -

ahir, his father was 
buried in Old Sennar. 
Anyway, this is the history 
that we have or what has 
frequently been said. It has 
even been said so during 
the ooliyya (annual 
celebration of a dead saint). 
They (i.e., the members of 

aaj a - aahir’s family) 
always say that their family 
originates from Andalusia; 
Shaikh Wad-Haashim  

H

8   Compared with the birth date of his nephew, Shaikh Wad-Haashim (ca. 1820–1830), this date 
(around 1700) seems too early.
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Ardeeba Ab-Garin ( Iree-
diiba), beyond Maiurno 
(i.e., south of Maiurno). It 
is registered on the map. 
When the Europeans (Brit-
ish administration) opened 
the chance for land registra-
tion, Shaikh Mu ammad 
Toom, the son of Shaikh 

al a, registered it. I think 
that it was the only chance 
opened for land registration 
in the Sudan. They consid-
ered it a mistake to allow 
individuals to register (i.e., 
to own) such large amounts 
of land. He  (Shaikh 
Mu ammad Toom) regis-
tered it in two blocks: Fal-
laata Block and Wad 
Haashim Block.

 

Q: You have said that your 
relatives came from North 
Africa. How did they then 
arrive to this area?

When Granada (Ghurnaa a 
– in Andalusia) fell (in 
1505)…7 Of course, the fall 
of Granada coincided with 
the emergence of the Funj 
Sultanate. We are among 
the families that appeared 
here following the fall of 
Granada. Our family mi-
grated and came to this 
area; the aaj a - aahirs 
(i.e., aaj a - aahir, his fa-
ther and his grandfather) 
were all born here (in the   

 … 1505

 
7   Granada was under Muslim (Moorish) rule for almost eight centuries before being recaptured 

by Spanish Christian forces in 1492 (i.e., somewhat sooner than this informant thinks).
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Q: This means that he 
(Shaikh Wad-Haashim) 
does/did not have any 
(kinship) relation with the 
Fallaata (i.e., Fulani)!

Yes, (he was not related to 
Fulani people) at his grand-
father’s level; Shaikh Wad-
Haashim’s father was from 
the Shanaagii  and his 
mother from the Fallaata 
(Fulani).

Q: You have said that the 
Funj did give land to aaj 
a - ahir. Why did they 
give him land?

There is a popular story, 
which says that the Funj 
(Sultan) molested aaj a -

aahir, regarding him as a 
stranger. Therefore, aaj 
a - ahir instigated the 
Suleimanian ants against 
him (using supernatural 
powers).6 In order to ap-
pease his anger and gain his 
favour, they (i.e., the Funj) 
gave him land in the 
 proximity of their capital 
(Sennar). 

 

Q: Have you heard where 
this land begins and where 
it ends?

The land extends from the 
textile factory of Sennar to    
6   The expression ‘Suleimanian ants’ refers to the Prophet Suleimaan (Salomon) and to the 

fact that he is attributed great wisdom and strong supernatural powers in Islamic tradition. 
According to the latter tradition, these supernatural powers, which were bestowed upon  
him by Allah, include the ability to talk to ants.
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woman) called aliima, the 
mother of Shaikh 
Mu ammad Toom (himself 
a son of Shaikh al a). The 
Shaikh al as crossed to 
the eastern side of the 
(Blue) Nile and the aaj a -

ahirs (i.e., aaj a - aahir 
and his family) remained 
on the western side in a vil-
lage that aaj a - ahir had 
established under the name 
of ‘al-Fitee ’. Their grave-
yard was in Maiurno. It was 

aaj a - aahir who found-
ed al-Fitee  and Shaikh 
Wad-Haashim changed its 
name into ‘Wad Haashim’. 

H

H

Q: Do you know from which 
tribe Shaikh Wad-Haashim 
is/was?

Same as aaj a - ahir. Ac-
cording to the information I 
got, this lineage (i.e., group) 
came (to Sudan) via the 
Libyan Desert; there is 
even one of its branches 
which stayed there (in the 
Libyan Desert). Shaikh 
Wad-Haashim was not born 
in this area; he was born in 
Wad al- Asha in the Gezira. 
His mother was from the 
Masallamiyya5 tribe and his 
father was from the 
Shanaagii  (Mauritanians).

H

 

5  It is often said that a branch of the Masallamiyya (Arab) tribe descends from a Fulani man.
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had been buried in Old Sen-
nar, but he himself was bur-
ied in Maiurno3 and his 

came to this area during the 
reign of Makk aj-Ja maan, 
the Makk4 of the Funj. A fa-
mous story (problem) oc-
curred between him and the 
Makk. I think that he ( aaj 
a - aahir) was responsible 
for the religious (Islamic) 
education; therefore, they 
rewarded him by register-
ing land for him. The Funj 
registered the land for him 
on a piece of leather and 
signed it; it is still there. 

Q: What is/was 
relation with 

Shaikh al a?

His relation with Shaikh 
al a was as follows: aaj 

a - aahir was married to 
Shaikh al a’s maternal 
aunt in al-Waa liyya. When 

aaj a - ahir had the land 
registered for him, he 
brought the Shaikh al as 
(i.e., Shaikh al a and his 
brothers) to this area. 
 Shaikh al a then got mar-
ried to a daughter of his ma-
ternal aunt (i.e., a daughter 
of aaj a - ahir), (a   

 

 
3   The graveyard in which aaj a - aahir was buried existed before the establishment of Maiurno 

town (1906). The Maiurno people continued burying their dead in this graveyard, but now it 
has become too full; at present, the dead are only buried in it from time to time.

4   ‘Makk’ is here used as a synonym of ‘Sultan’. As will become clear below, the informant dates 
the birth of aaj a - aahir to around 1700, ca. a century before the fall of the Funj Sultanate 
and its conquest by forces of Mu ammad Ali Pasha, the Ottoman Turkish ruler of Egypt 
(1821).
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INTERVIEW:  

AGE AND PLACE OF BIRTH OF THE INTERVIEWEE:
60 years, born in illat Ismaa iil
DATE AND PLACE OF THE INTERVIEW:

illat Ismaa iil 

Q: We heard that this vil-
lage (
founded by one of 

1 

in this area. Please, tell us 

HAASHIM
aaj a - aahir was one of 

-
tory of this area. I am one 
of his descendants. There 
are contradictions on his 
ethnic origin. People tend 
to relate him to West Africa, 
but we, as a family, have a 
different opinion. To us, 

aaj a - ahir’s father was 
from the Shanaagii  (Mau-
ritanians)2 and his mother 
was from the Fallaata (i.e., 
Fulani). He came from the 
area of al-Waa liyya (in the 
Gezira) and lived in Old 
Sennar. His grandfathers     
1   ‘ ’ aaj a - aahir
2   On July 15, 2012, I conducted a group interview in illat Ismaa iil with descendants of aaj 

a - aahir, including the informant (Haashim) and his father. In that interview, one of aaj 
a - ahir descendants ( Abdulgaadir al-Yasa  Baabikir Ilyaas al- aaj a - aahir) asserted that 
his great grandfather (i.e., aaj a - aahir) was a Fulani; the informant (Haashim) kept silent 
and did not make any attempt to bring forward his own view about aaj a - aahir being of 
‘Shanaagii ’/North African origin.



مقدمة08

ملاحظات أولية:
▫ �لقد لعب الوجود المبكر لقريتي ود هاشم والشيخ طلحة، كمركزين للنشاط الصوفي 

وتعلم القرآن، دوراً كبيراً في هجرات الفولانيين إلى هذه المنطقة.8
والجزيرة  وكردفان  دارفور  هي  مباشرة  منها  الفولانيين  قدامى  أتى  التي  ▫ �الأقاليم 
فكلهم  أسلافهم،  منها  هاجر  التي  الأبعد  الأقاليم  عن  سؤالهم  وعند  )المروية(. 
يذكرون شمال إفريقيا، بالأخص تونس، دون الإشارة من قريب أو بعيد إلى غرب 

إفريقيا.
ثم  أولًا  المهدية  الحركة  في  شاركت  المجموعة  هذه  في  الأسر  من  كبيرة  ▫ �أعداد 
"خربت  بها  التي   )1897( كرري  معركة  بعد  مباشرة  المنطقة  هذه  إلى  توجهت 

المهدية"، أي انتهت.
ه إلى هذه المنطقة لواحد أو أكثر من الأسباب  ▫ �معظم الفولانيين الأنصار قد توجَّ

التالية )حسب إفاداتهم(:
أ( إن خليفة المهدي )أي الخليفة عبد الله( نصحهم بذلك.

ب( �إن الشيخ محمد توم بن الشيخ طلحة، شيخ قرية الشيخ طلحة في ذلك الحين، 
هو ابن عمهم )في القبيلة(، أي إنه فولاني مثلهم على حد قولهم، وقد أرسل 

يدعوهم للانضمام إليه.
ج( تتمتع المنطقة بفرص جاذبة للرعى والزراعة.

د( �إن قرية الشيخ طلحة مكان آمن، حيث لم يتمكن الإنجليز من الوصول إليها، 
ولم يحدث فيها أي نوع من العنف المصاحب لدخول الاستعمار.

▫ �يميل قدامى الفولانيين إلى السكوت عن هويتهم الإثنية، وقد قرر بعض منهم سلفاً 
تبني هوية )عربية( جديدة.

8  �لقد جذبت هاتان القريتان، باعتبارهما مركزين للنشاط الصوفي، أيضاً مجموعات كبيرة من الوافدين 
من مختلف الإثنيات ومختلف أنحاء السودان، منهم العرب ومنهم غير العرب، ومن لم يسكن فيهما 

سكن حولهما.
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بل هي من الصليحاب، وهو فرع من قبيلة المبا )البرقو(؛ وثانياً، لقد ولد في السوكى 
ونشأ فيها في الوسط الاجتماعي لقدامى الفولانيين، وبالتالي لم يكتسب شيئاً من هوية 
فولانيي ما بعد المهدية، كما لم يتحدث اللغة الفولانية )فلفلدي(. في هذه الحالة، فإنه 
عملياً أقرب إلى قدامى الفولانيين من فولانيي ما بعد المهدية الذين ينتمي إليهم والده.

أما الأشخاص الذين أجريت معهم مقابلات في أمدرمان فهم:
▫ �محمد الأمين حسن إبراهيم، معتمد السوكي )في ذلك الحين(: ولد في مايرنو، وبذلك 
فهو من فولانيي ما بعد المهدية. رغم أنه كان مضيفي طيلة فترة إقامتي بالسوكي 
للعمل الميداني، ورغم أنه كان المنسق لكل اجتماعاتي مع الأشخاص والمجموعات 
التي أجريت معها المقابلات باعتباره المسئول السياسى والتنفيذي الأول في محلية 
السوكي وأكثر إحاطة بالأحوال الاجتماعية بالمحلية بطولها وعرضها، بالأخص 
فيما يتصل بالفولانيين وعلاقاتهم وتفاعلهم مع المجموعات الإثنية الأخرى، إلا أننى 
لم انتبه إلى أهمية إجراء مقابلة معه إلا مؤخراً. عليه، تمت المقابلة معه في إحدى 

رحلاته المنتظمة إلى أمدرمان، حيث تقيم إحدى زوجاته الثلاث.
▫ �كامل عبدالرحمن الشيخ محمد أبوكومة، و بله الطاهر محمد سالم: كلاهما من 
قرية ود هاشم )عرب( ولكنهما مستقران في أمدرمان في حي سكني )حي الشقلة( 
يضم عدداً كبيراً من أهالي ود هاشم. كلاهما مرتبط ارتباطاً وثيقاً بقريته، يقومان 
بزيارات منتظمة إليها في مختلف المناسبات، لا سيما الأعياد والوفيات. ينتمى بله 
الطاهر إلى مجموعة قدامى الفولانيين بود هاشم، أما كامل عبدالرحمن فهو من 
مجموعة الدناقلة المستقرين بهذه القرية، ترجع صلته بهذا البحث إلى واقع أن جده 
أبوكومة هو الذي خلَف الشيخ ودهاشم في سجادته، حيث أن الشيخ ودهاشم لم 
يخلِّف ذرية، وأن الشيخ أبوكومة قد أفنى عمره في خدمته. لذلك أوصى قبيل وفاته 
بأن تؤول السجادة إلى الشيخ أبوكومة، ومن ثم تواصلت الخلافة في أسرته إلى 
يومنا هذا.5 وكامل عبدالرحمن هو الشيخ الحالي للسجادة، وبالتالي الزعيم الروحي 

لمجتمع ود هاشم.
▫ �العمدة يعقوب آدم يعقوب: هو عمدة عمودية في منطقة تلس )جنوب دارفور( يقع 
في إدارتها جزء من الفلاتة سِندِقَة،6 ويمتلك كذلك منزلًا في أمدرمان، تم فيه إجراء 
المقابلة بحضور مجموعة من سِندِقَة دافور.7 واتضح من خلال هذه المقابلة أن 
بعض الأفراد من هذه المجموعة لهم صلة قربى مع مجموعة السندقة المستقرة في 
منطقة سنار. تجدر الإشارة إلى أن السندقة في منطقة سنار قد انقسموا مؤخراًُ إلى 
مجموعتين متناحرتين إثر خلاف حول هويتهم الإثنية: مجموعة قررت التخلي عن 
الهوية الفولانية وتبنِّي هوية عربية )حسيناب(، وأخرى تصر على التمسك بهويتها 
أفراد  مثل   – أفرادها  أن  رغم  أنملة،  قيد  عنها  الزحزحة  وعدم  الأصلية  الفولانية 
المجموعة الأولى – أيضاً لا يتحدثون اللغة الفولانية. الغريب في الأمر، أن هاتين 

المجموعتين يقودهما شقيقان، كل منهما يتزعم إحداهما.

5  �هذه حالة فريدة في تاريخ الصوفية في السودان انتقلت فيها "السجادة" )ومن ثم البركة( إلى أسرة 
ليست لها صلة رحم مع أسرة الشيخ المؤسس للطريقة في المنطقة.

6  �هذا، علماً بأن الفلاتة سندقة في منطقة تلس )جنوب دارفور( لهم عمودية قائمة بذاتها تحت إدارة 
العمدة إبراهيم يونس.

الفولانية(، وهو  باللغة  الفلاتة إيسوجي/عيسوجي )يتحدثون  7  �الفلاتة سندقة في دارفور هم فرع من 
أكبر فرع في قسم الفلاتة إيبا )في مقابل إيكا – لا يتحدثون اللغة(. كل السندقة الذين أجريت معهم 
المقابلة بمنزل العمدة يعقوب آدم يعقوب بأمدرمان )أبريل 2013( هم من المتحدثين باللغة الفولانية.
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نيجيريا ومن أماكن أخرى متفرقة في غرب إفريقيا )السنغال، مالي، بوركينا فاسو، 
النيجر، الكمرون، إلخ(. وهؤلاء يتركزون في مدينة مايرنو الحالية الواقعة على الضفة 
إلى قرى أخرى  كيلومتراً جنوبي سنار، إضافة   15 بعد  للنيل الأزرق على  الغربية 
تفرعت من مايرنو وأُنشِئت على ضفتي النيل الأزرق جنوباً في اتجاه الروصيرص 
والدمازين، وعلى نهري الدندر والرهد.3 على عكس قدامى الفولانيين، فإن هؤلاء ما 
زالوا محتفظين لحد كبير بالثقافة الفولانية من عادات وتقاليد، وما زال أغلبهم يتحدث 
اللغة الفولانية )جنباً إلى جنب مع اللغة العربية(، غير أن المؤثرات الثقافية العربية 

السودانية أخذت تسيطر فيهم بخطى متسارعة.
لقد دفعتني أوضاع هذين القسمين من الفولانيين بمنطقة سنار )أي قدامى الفولانيين 
إلى  الهجرة  تاريخ  حيث  من  دراستهما  إلى  السعي  إلى  المهدية(،  بعد  ما  وفولانيو 
المنطقة، وسبل كسب العيش، والإسهام في التنمية الاقتصادية )باعتبار أفرادهما رعاة 
وزراعاً(، والمشاكل المتعلقة بالهوية )بالنسبة للقسم الثاني على وجه الخصوص(، إلى 
جانب التداخل والتفاعل والتعايش مع القبائل الأخرى والمجتمعات المجاورة، ومن ثم 

درجة الاندماج فيها.
على أية حال، لقد نال فولانيو ما بعد المهدية القاطنون في منطقة سنار حظاً وافراً 
العشرين  في   – وشخصي  شلي  بروفسير/غونتر   – قمنا  فقد  والنشر.  البحث  في 
البحثية حولهم، وذلك في إطار مشروع  المادة  كمٍ مقدرٍ من  الماضية بجمع  عاماً 
كان يضطلع به معهد ماكس بلانك للأنثربولوجيا الاجتماعية )ألمانيا( تحت عنوان 
"الإثنية في سياق جديد"، وما زال جزء من هذه المادة في مرحلة التحليل والإعداد 
يتم  لم  الفولانيين،  قدامى  أي  منهم،  الأول  القسم  فإن  ذلك،  عكس  على  للنشر.4 
عن  عبارة  والكتب  البحوث  في  حولهم  جاء  ما  فكل  جادة؛  بصورة  إليه  التطرق 
دون  القسم  هذا  على  المجلد  هذا  في  أركز  أن  رأيت  لذلك  وهناك.  هنا   شذرات 

سواه.
لة أجريتها  إن المادة التي أعرضها في هذا المجلد تم اقتطاعها من مقابلات مطوَّ
تفاعل مع سبل أخرى لاستخدام الأرض في منطقة  "الرعي في  في إطار مشروع 
النيل الأزرق بالسودان" الذي يموله معهد ماكس بلانك المذكور أعلاه ويرأسه )أي 
المشروع( البروفسير/غونتر شلي، مدير هذا المعهد. وقد تم جمع هذه المادة خلال 
ثلاث رحلات ميدانية في المنطقة موضوع الدراسة، وذلك في يونيو 2011، ويناير 
2013، ومارس 2013. هذا إضافة إلى ثلاث مقابلات أخرى أجريت بأمدرمان في 
فبراير 2012، ويوليو 2012، وأبريل 2013. وتشمل الأماكن التي جمعت فيها المادة 
النحل )حوالي 7  السوكى وقرية تريرا كوع  الدراسة كلًا من مدينة  قيد  المنطقة  في 
وقرية  كيلومتراً جنوبي سنار(   8 )حوالي  إسماعيل  السوكى(، وحلة  كيلومتراً غربي 

.)vi المرفع )حوالي 10 كيلومتراً جنوبي مايرنو( )انظر الخارطة في صفحة
باستثناء عمر محمد قدس عبدالله، فإن كل الشخصيات التي أجريت معها المقابلات 
تنتمى إلى قدامى الفولانيين. أما عمر قدس فله وضع خاص؛ فقد قدم والده من منطقة 
صكتو – وهي نفس المنطقة التي تحركت منها هجرة الطاهر/ميورنو – ووصل إلى 
السوكي تحت حماية السلطان ميورنو. ولكن رغم ذلك لا يمكن تصنيف عمر في 
فولانيي ما بعد المهدية بهذه المنطقة، وذلك لأنه: أولًا، لم تكن والدته من الفولانيين، 

 3  �لمزيد من المعلومات حول هذه القرى والظروف الاجتماعية السياسية التي أدت لتأسيسها، انظر 
.Abu-Manga (2007(

4  �جُمعت هذه المادة خلال العامين 1996 و 1998 ونُشر جزء منها إليكترونياً )Schlee 2013؛ انظر 
.)Schlee & Abu-Manga 2017 و Schlee 2000 ًأيضا
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سنار  منطقة  أن   – آخرون1  باحثون  بيَّن  وكذلك   – سابقة  دراسات  في  بيَّنت  لقد 
واستقرار  جذب  بؤرة  عشر،  التاسع  القرن  خلال  عقود  لعدة  ظلت  السودان  بوسط 
في حين  ودارفور  في كردفان  متفرقة  مناطق  بعضهم من  أتى  الفولانيين،  لهجرات 
أن بعضهم قدم مباشرة من غرب إفريقيا. ووفقاً للتقاليد السودانية والإفريقية بصورة 
عامة، تُميِّز كل مجموعة من هؤلاء الفولانيين نفسها باسم قبلي أو عشائري يرجع 
إلى مؤسسها )مثل فلاتة زروقاب، سندقة، أولاد عتمانة، إلخ( أو إلى الجهة التي 
هاجرت منها )مثل فلاتة صكتو، برنو، كاتسينا، إلخ(. ويمكننا تصنيف مجموعات 
الفولانيين في منطقة سنار، بمختلف قبائلها وعشائرها، في قسمين رئيسيين استناداً 
وهما:  المحلية،  )العربية(  المجتمعات  في  اندماجها  ودرجة  هجراتها  تاريخ   إلى 

)أ( قدامى الفولانيين، و)ب( فولانيو ما بعد المهدية.
التي استقرت بهذه المنطقة قبل  يضم قسم قدامى الفولانيين المجموعات أو الأسر 
قيام الدولة المهدية )1885–1897( وتلك التي لحقت مباشرة بعد سقوط هذه الدولة 
في أيدي الاستعمار البريطانى، أي بعد معركة كرري عام 1897. وهؤلاء الأخيرون 
تحركوا في الأساس من دارفور وكردفان لنصرة المهدي وكانوا في معيته إلى أمدرمان 
المبكر  للاستقرار  ونسبة  المهدية".  "خراب  بعد  سنار  منطقة  إلى  ذلك  بعد  ثم  أولًا 
لقدامى الفولانيين في السودان وتداخلهم في المجموعات المحلية وتصاهرهم وتفاعلهم 
معها، وغلبة الثقافة العربية فيهم، فقد فقدوا بمرور الزمن كل عناصر ثقافتهم الفولانية 
الأصلية وتراثها وعاداتها، بما في ذلك اللغة الفولانية نفسها، أي أصبحوا "عرباً" لساناً 
وثقافة. يتمثل الموطن الأول لقدامى الفولانيين بمنطقة سنار في قريتين يعتبران أقدم 
قرى "الفلاتة" )فلاني( في المنطقة، وهما قرية ود هاشم2 على بعد 12 كيلومتراً جنوبي 
سنار على الضفة الغربية من النيل الأزرق، وقرية الشيخ طلحة على الضفة الشرقية 
للنهر قبالة ود هاشم )مع الميل قليلًا نحو الجنوب(. تشكَّلت نواة هاتين القريتين من 
قرية أخرى أسبق نشأت باسم الفتيح في العقود الأخيرة لمملكة الفونج، وتحولت فيما 
بعد من موضعها قليلًا وتغيَّر اسمها إلى ود هاشم. وتكونت كل من قريتي ود هاشم 
والشيخ طلحة وتطورتا على نمط القرى المركزية التي تميَّز بها عهد الفونج، دون سواه 
من العهود، أي قيام القرية حول "تقابة" رجل صالح أو وليٍّ من أولياء الله، ينجذب 
إليها المريدون من كل حدب وصوب ومن مختلف القبائل، تذوب فيهم الفوارق القبلية 
ومؤدب  مترابط  مجتمع  فيهم  وينشأ  ويتمازجون،  ويتصاهرون  فيتعايشون  والطبقية، 

ومثالي، ولاؤه لله ولشيخ الطريقة.
تفرعت من قرية الشيخ طلحة مجموعة من القرى الأخرى المجاورة لها مثل مسرة 
العجوز وحمدنا الله وعسلانقا. واليوم تمثل مدينة السوكى )حوالي 40 كيلومتراً جنوب 
شرق الشيخ طلحة( أكبر تجمع لقدامى الفولانيين في المنطقة، وبها رئاسة المحلية 

)محلية السوكى(.
التي  الطاهر/ميورنو  هجرة  جماعات  فهم  المنطقة  في  المهدية  بعد  ما  فولانيو  أما 
وصلت في العقد الأول من القرن الماضي قادمة مباشرة من ما يعرف اليوم بـ شمال 

.Abu-Manga (1986( و Duffield (1981( و Nasr (1980( :1  �انظر مثلًا
2  �في كل هذا المجلد تستخدم صيغة "ود هاشم" )كلمتان( للإشارة إلى القرية، بينما تستخدم صيغة 

"ودهاشم" )كلمة واحدة( للإشارة إلى مؤسسها.
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